
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a City Council Meeting on 
Monday, May 9, 2022, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
 
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought   
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes            Pages 

a. April 25, 2022 – Regular City Council meeting        02-08 
6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a. Proclamation: May 8 – 14, 2022 – Hospital Week in Caribou     09-10 
7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items        11-13 

a. Public Hearing – Ordinance 4, 2022 Series “An ordinance to amend City Code and Ordinances Chapter 2 
– Administration to add ‘Juneteenth’ to the list of observed holidays and to change the name of the 
observed holiday ‘Columbus Day’ to ‘Indigenous Peoples Day’” 

8. Reports by Staff and Committees 
a. Report by Elizabeth Singer regarding “Age Friendly Caribou Action Plan 2022”   14-38 
b. First Read:  Report on Riverfront Development District (CEO Ken Murchison)   39-40 
c. Manager’s report          41-42 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions        43-45 
a. Discussion / Possible Introduction: Ordinance 5 “An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 5, Fire Prevention, to 
clarify the responsibility for snow removal from the hydrants located within the City of Caribou” 
b. Discussion / Possible Action: Resolution 05-01-2022 “ARPA Conflict of Interest Policy”  46-49 
c. Formal resolution acknowledging the City’s grant application to the Libra Foundation requesting a 

planning grant for the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee    50-51 
d. Acceptance of City Manager’s 6-month evaluation / satisfaction of probation period  52-53 
e. First read: Re-establish Boston Post Cane / Oldest Caribou citizen recognition   54 
f. First read: Request to convey the east half of Violette Street extension where it adjoins Lot 46 55 
g. First read: Request by Caleb Trombley to Opt-In to Retail Marijuana in Caribou   56-78 

10. Old Business 
a. Report on Home Occupations (CEO Ken Murchison)      79-89 
b. Brief discussion of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Districts     90-118 

11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 
12. Next Regular Meetings: May 23, June 13 & 27       Reports 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.A) 119-132 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


April 25, 2022 
22-11 Pg. 1 

 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council Meeting on Monday, April 25, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. 
in Council Chambers with the following members present:  Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, 
Councilors Goughan, Morrell, Morrill, Theriault and Willey.  

Penny Thompson, City Manager was present at the meeting.  

Department Managers Kenneth Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator), Gary Marquis (Parks & 
Recreation Superintendent), Scott Susi (Fire Chief), Carl Grant (Finance Director) and Dave 
Ouellette (Public Works Director) were present at the meeting.   

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Reverend Ron Rosser offered the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  April 11, 2022 – Regular City Council meeting 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the April 11, 2022 
minutes as presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Public Works bid results (Public Works Director) 

Dave Ouellette, Public Works Director reviewed the bid results that were received for Culverts, 
Street Paint, Shim & Patch, Country Paving, Sand, Intown Paving and Bennett Drive MPI. He 
explained that the prices are higher than they have been in the past.  

2



April 25, 2022 
22-11 Pg. 2 

 

Council had a brief discussion regarding the upcoming season for road repairs.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the bid of 
$18,156.00 from EJ Prescott of Gardiner, ME for Culverts.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

3



April 25, 2022 
22-11 Pg. 3 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the bid of 
$16,095.20 from Haney’s Building Supply for Street Paint, pending review by Dave Ouellette 
for the quality.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the bid of 
$85.00 for Shim & Patch from Lane Construction.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the bid of $96.85 
from Trombley Industries for Country Paving.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the bid of 
$15.00 a yard from Trombley Industries for Sand, pending further review by Dave Ouellette on 
the quality of the sand for where it comes from.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Motion made by Mayor Smith, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the bid of $97.25 
from Trombley Industries for In Town Paving.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the bid of 
$241,641.35 from Trombley Industries for Bennett Drive MPI.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  Proclamation – Municipal Clerks’ Week 

Mayor Smith read a proclamation declaring May 1 to May 7, 2022, as Professional Municipal 
Clerk’s Week.   

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and possible Action Items 

a.  Public Hearing – Application for ARPA County funds 

Open Public Hearing: 6:41 p.m. 

There were four letters of support received, they came in from Beth Collamore, M.D., Town of 
Stockholm, Tara Henderson of the Town of Limestone, the Town of New Sweden, and Scott 
Dow, Selectman of Woodland.   

4



April 25, 2022 
22-11 Pg. 4 

 

Scott Dow, President of the Caribou Professional Firefighters Local 5191 came to speak on 
behalf of the 15 union members.  He came in to talk about the endorsement as a union, for the 
medical equipment and station upgrades the City is applying for from the grant.  He explained 
that not only will this positively affect our local firefighters, paramedics, and volunteers, it will 
positively affect the communities that surround them now and in the future.  The Local 5191, 
hopes the application proceeds forward, and are excited to work with the city members, local 
communities, and County administration on progressing their safety.   

Closed Public Hearing:  6:45 p.m.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to proceed with the 
application to the County of Aroostook in regard to the ARPA funding.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  March Financials (Finance Director) 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the March 2022 Financial Report.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the March Financial 
report as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  CDBG grant Letter of Intent – C&J Service Center 

Manager Thompson explained that the City has provided lots of outreach had a lot of people 
contact with their needs, but they didn’t meet the parameters of the program. There was one 
person that reached out today, but they would need it to be completed by Friday.  The City needs 
to apply on the behalf of the business, and can only do so for one business. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Morrell to allow the City Manager to 
sign the letter of intent for the grant process for C&J’s Service center. 

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

c.  Blight Update (CEO) 

Kenneth Murchison, Zoning Administrator/CEO explained that as the snow recedes that more 
items start to pop up around the community.  The recent tax acquired bid list from February 22, 
2022 had properties listed at the bottom that were blighted.  Mr. Murchison is suggesting that the 
property #55, 64, and 65 get put to bid for demolition.  They city has already approved the 
contractor for the demolition at 37 Home Farm Road.   

We are also in the final phase of the Caribou Trailer Park Closer and the CEO also suggests 
getting legal involved for the final eviction process, and hopefully to utilize the Public Works 

5



April 25, 2022 
22-11 Pg. 5 

Department to dispose of the remaining and abandoned mobile homes and begin the reuse 
planning for the park property.  

The City is also still working to contact the owner of record for West Gate Villa for a similar 
cleanup project, and has not received any response to the certified mail notice that was sent.  
Another project is to work on the list of burnt-out buildings in the city.  There are at least two 
that were destroyed on the Van Buren Road, one on the Access Highway, Limestone Street, 
Lower Lyndon Street, Washburn Street and on the Old Washburn Road.  While the City does not 
want to visit with a notice of violation right after someone has experienced a devastating fire 
event, many of the properties have been neglected for years and these sites represent a blight and 
even a danger to the neighborhoods.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Morrell to go forward with the 
demolition of the building at 37 Home Farm Road and to assess the demolition fees back to the 
owner.    

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

d.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated April 25, 2022. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Main PERS – Fire employee buy back from Cary Medical Center 

Manager Thompson explained that there is an employee that would like to purchase credit 
toward their Caribou Fire & Police plan for time worked at Cary Medical Center.  This would be 
at the employee’s expense, according to Maine PERS, the City of Caribou did this for another 
employee in 2016. 

Council had a brief discussion regarding the process of the research and how to purchase time 
back.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey that we proceed with this 
request from Main PERS for this person to calculate their Maine PERS cost and eligibility for 
time worked at Cary Medical Center.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  Discussion about snow removal from fire hydrants  

Manager Thompson explained that the discussion has been back and forth for years regarding the 
snow removal for the fire hydrants.  During the previous meeting there was a discussion and 
tonight there are representatives from the Utilities District, Public Works, and the Fire 
Department present at the meeting.   

Council had a brief discussion regarding the rental fee of $325,000 that is paid for the fire 
hydrants and what is included with that.  They discussed the fact that the banter has gone back 

6



April 25, 2022 
22-11 Pg. 6 

and forth for years and there has been no formal agreement made, just opinions shared of who 
should be doing the work.   They discussed the idea that an agreement or ordinance needs to be 
in writing that outlines who would be responsible for the snow removal from the fire hydrants at 
the Council’s discretion.   

Manager Thompson stated that she would reach out to MMA Legal for advice regarding the 
topic.  

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a.  Revenue Budget 2022 

Manager Thompson explained that in years past all the budgets were passed at the same time 
even though the complete budget was not due until the end of May.  Revenues can always be 
adjusted higher, but expenses can only be reduced.   

Council had a brief discussion regarding the 2022 Revenue budget.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to pass the revenue budget as 
presented.   

Council had a brief discussion regarding the proposed 2022 Revenue budget  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Morrell asked about maintenance on the storm drains.  

Dave Ouellette, Public Works director explained that the drains on the main drags in and out of 
town are owned by the DOT including the infrastructure.  Anything inside the compact zone is 
Caribou’s responsibility for the maintenance.  He explained that the catch basins should be 
cleaned out and has not been done for quite some time.  He stated that they now have the 
equipment available to clean them out.   

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings:  May 9 & 23 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  1 MRSA §405.6.C Real Estate Matter – Hospital District Board 

Mayor Smith stated this item has been removed from the agenda.   

b.  1 MRSA §405.6.A Personnel Matters – Assignments & Duties 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Morrill to enter executive session 
at 7:46 p.m. to discuss Personnel Matters under 1 MRSA §405.6.A. 

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 8:10 p.m.  

7



April 25, 2022 
22-11 Pg. 7 

No action taken.  

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 
8:10 p.m.  

Vote was unanimous.  

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary  

 

8



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Hospital Week Proclamation 2022 Proclamation  

  

The Caribou City Council has been asked to proclaim May 8 – 14, 2022 as Hospital Week in the 
City of Caribou. The Proclamation is included in the packet. 

 

Suggestion Action: 

Please read the proclamation and vote to proclaim May 8 – 14, 2022, as Hospital Week in the 
City of Caribou. 

Please circulate and sign two copies of the proclamation – one for the City Clerk and one for Cary 
Medical Center. 

 

9



 
 

WHEREAS, National Hospital Week celebrates hospitals and the healthcare providers who, day in 
and day out, support the health of our communities through compassionate care, constant 
innovation and unmatched dedication; and 

WHEREAS, individuals across the United States will be celebrating this time-honored event; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is honored to join the many National Hospital Week partners in 
celebrating Cary Medical Center and the people who are on the front lines working tirelessly to help 
others in their greatest time of need; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou recognizes that the hardworking people who make up Cary Medical 
Center deserve universal regard and appreciation for keeping our community healthy; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that the Caribou City Council, fully support and do hereby 
proclaim May 8-14, 2022, as Hospital Week in the City of Caribou and call upon all citizens to 
observe the week by offering special recognition to Cary Medical Center for its invaluable 
contributions to our community. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have here unto set our hands and caused to be affixed the Seal of the 
City of Caribou on this 9th day of May. 

 

 
________________________________________  ________________________________________ 

 

 

________________________________________  ________________________________________ 

 

 

________________________________________  ________________________________________ 

 

  

________________________________________   

                                                                Mayor Jody Smith     

 
________________________________________ 

Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
        [City Seal] 

 

CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL 
2022 HOSPITAL WEEK PROCLAMATION 

10



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   New federal and state holiday, “Juneteenth”  

  

Ordinance 4 was introduced at the April 11, 2022 Caribou City Council meeting which would 
amend the City Code and Ordinances Chapter 2 – Administration to add “Juneteenth” to the list 
of observed holidays and update the verbiage passed by the state of Maine from “Columbus Day” 
to “Indigenous Peoples Day”. This year, the state will observe the holiday on Monday June 20. 
Police and fire unions have already incorporated the holiday into their contract. 

Suggested action:  

Please hold the public hearing. If the outcome is favorable, please move and second a motion to 
approve Ordinance 4, 2022 Series “An ordinance to amend City Code and Ordinances Chapter 2 
– Administration to add ‘Juneteenth’ to the list of observed holidays and to change the name of 
the observed holiday ‘Columbus Day’ to ‘Indigenous Peoples Day’” 

 

Here is an excerpt from Maine Municipal Association Town & City July 2021: 

Juneteenth: A New Holiday 
 
Maine Town & City - July, 2021 

Question: How does the new holiday Juneteenth affect local governments? 

Answer: Juneteenth (a blend of the words “June” and “nineteenth”) is the new paid federal and state holiday 

commemorating the emancipation of enslaved African-Americans. The date derives from June 19, 1865, when 

formerly enslaved residents of Galveston, Texas, learned belatedly of President Abraham Lincoln’s signing of the 

Emancipation Proclamation almost two and a half years earlier. President Biden on June 17, 2021, signed the new 

federal law making Juneteenth a paid holiday for federal employees. Maine Governor Mills did the same for state 

employees on June 10, 2021. The new state law (PL 2021, c. 140) declaring Juneteenth a paid holiday for state 

employees was not enacted as an emergency, however, so it will not be officially observed until June 19, 2022. 

Juneteenth joins a list of more familiar federal and state holidays on the calendar, from New Year’s Day to Christmas 

Day plus all the others in between. But no federal or state law mandates that municipalities recognize them or close 

their offices or pay their staff for any of these holidays. Although most federal and state holidays are recognized and 

paid locally as well, whether and to what extent municipalities do so is a local decision that should be incorporated 

one way or the other in their personnel policies and operating budgets. For more on this topic, see “Legal Holidays & 

Commemorations,” Maine Town & City, Legal Notes, February 2021. (By R.P.F.) 

11



Introduced by Deputy Mayor Boma 
on April 11, 2022 

ORDINANCE No. 4, 2022 Series 
 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
“An ordinance to amend the City Code and Ordinances Chapter 2 – Administration to add 
‘Juneteenth’ to the list of observed holidays and to change the name of the observed holiday 
‘Columbus Day’ to ‘Indigenous Peoples Day’” 
 
Short Title: An Ordinance Amending Chapter 2 to add “Juneteenth” to the list of observed holidays 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 
granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has adopted as part of its ordinances and regulations Chapter 2 
- Administration; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has a list of observed holidays among the benefits provided to 
employees; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council has determined that “Juneteenth” should be added to the 
list of observed holidays; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council has determined that the Columbus Day holiday should be 
changed to reflect that Maine now observes “Indigenous Peoples Day”; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, does ordain the 
following: 
 
Chapter 2 - Administration, Benefits Section, Holidays Subsection 
The following revision will be made: 
 
HOLIDAYS 
 
Eleven (11) Twelve (12) holidays are observed throughout the calendar year. They are: 
 

1. New Year’s Day 
2. Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
3. Presidents Day 
4. Patriot’s Day 

12



5. Memorial Day 
6. Juneteenth 
7. Independence Day 
8. Labor Day 
9. Columbus Day Indigenous Peoples Day 
10. Veterans Day 
11. Thanksgiving Day 
12. Christmas Day 

 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on April 11, 2022 and a public hearing being held on May 9, 
2022 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this 9th day of May, 
2022. This ordinance shall become effective 30 days after adoption by the Council.  

 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor     Courtney Boma, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Joan Theriault, Councilor    R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Doug Morrell, Councilor    Lou Willey, Councilor 
 
______________________________   
John Morrill, Councilor  
 
 
 
 
        Attest:_____________________________ 

 Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

13



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Age Friendly Caribou Action Plan 2022  

  

Elizabeth Singer from Cary Medical Center and the Program Director for Age-Friendly Caribou is 
here to share the Age-Friendly Caribou Action Plan. After receiving your support,  the action plan 
will be sent to AARP for their approval so that Caribou can remain a certified “Age-Friendly 
Community”. 

 

Suggestion Action: 

If you have edits, please share those. 

When the Caribou City Council is satisfied with the action plan, please vote to sign the letter of 
support for the Age-Friendly Caribou Action Plan. 

14



 
 

 

 

  

Age Friendly Caribou Action Plan 

15



 
 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

Mission          1 

Vision          1 

About Us         1 

Committee Members & Partner Organizations    2 

Executive Summary        3 

Community Profile         4 

Connecting to Our Work Plan      6 

Work Plan         9 

Work Plan Strategy Charts       10 

Evaluation Matrix        16 

Appendix 1 – Programs Underway 

 

 

 

16



1 
 

 

Age Friendly Caribou Action Plan 

Draft April 2022 

 

Mission: 

To explore challenges and identify and implement ways to create a community where people can age in 

place, stay connected to the community, and remain independent and meaningfully engaged throughout 

their later years.  

Vision: 

Caribou is an Age-Friendly Community that supports active aging in a city that maintains quality of life and 

well-being for everyone.  

 

About Age Friendly Caribou: 

By exploring common challenges and solutions across the eight domains of livability by AARP 

–  transportation, housing, outdoor spaces and buildings, community support and health services, respect 

and social inclusion, communication and information, and civic participation and employment – we are 

looking to improve the quality of life in Caribou by creating an accessible, equitable and inclusive 

community for all residents. 

We have a committee of people who represent local government, experts on aging and community 

advocates. We continue to include more people on our committee and are doing more to reach out to local 

civic groups to help build a network of community support.  

How to reach us: 

Website: http://www.cariboumaine.org/index.php/living-in-caribou/age-friendly/  

Facebook – www.facebook.com/agefriendlycaribou  

Elizabeth Singer, Program Director 

esinger@carymed.org 

207-498-1632  

 

 

 

 

17

http://www.cariboumaine.org/index.php/living-in-caribou/age-friendly/
http://www.facebook.com/agefriendlycaribou
mailto:esinger@carymed.org


2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Committee Members & Partner Organizations  
 

Name Organization 

Lisa Plourde Caribou Housing Authority 

Ken Murchison Caribou City 

Dottie McDuff Citizen 

Diane Parent Citizen 

Don Ross Cary Volunteer 

Lou Willey Citizen 

Dot Wakem Cary Volunteer 

Nancy Bergin Cary Medical Center 
Seniority program 

Mark Putnam AAA on Aging 

Trisha House Senator Collins 

Christina Kane-Gibson Caribou Rec 

April Caron Remax Realty 

Dave Corriveau Citizen 

Peter Baldwin Caribou Library  

Chief Mike Gahagan Caribou Police 

Chief Scott Susi Caribou Fire 

Christina Kane-Gibson Events & Marketing  

Angel Murchison Caribou Ride Share 

Penny Thompson City Manager 

Kim Rohn Congressman Goldman 

Darylen Cote Citizen 

Christy Morin Citizen/home health 

Cindy Blanchette Cary Medical Center RN and 
Community Relations 

 

 

 

18



3 
 

 

Executive Summary 

“A livable community is safe and secure, has affordable and appropriate housing and transportation 

options, and offers supportive community features and services.” - AARP  

 

Caribou is designated as an AARP Age-Friendly Community, and is now part of a network of more than 370 

communities across the nation that are dedicated to making communities more livable for residents of all 

ages.  

 

Our city is the second largest in Aroostook County, and is the hub for several surrounding towns like 

Woodland, New Sweden and Stockholm. After the closing of Loring Air Force Base in 1994 the population of 

Caribou has dramatically declined, and the median age is older than most U.S. cities at 47.9. Access to 

resources and support for healthy aging and aging in place are limited. To help, Age Friendly Caribou has 

completed a community survey to identify needs and has started implementing programs to meet these 

needs. 

 

When asked “How would you rate your community as a place for people to live as they age?” 46% of 

respondents rated Caribou as ‘Good’. The committee hopes to increase the rating to ‘Excellent’ in the future. 

Most people responding have lived in the community for more than 45 years, but the next largest group 

have been in Caribou for 5 to 15 years. The committee felt that this potentially shows that people are 

moving to Caribou and staying.  

 

The data also showed that people in the community feel that being able to stay in their own home or having 

access to affordable housing is extremely important. Even though most people responded that they drive 

themselves, they rated access to transportation for people with disabilities and older adults as extremely 

important.  

 

Access to healthcare received the highest response for being ‘Extremely Important’. There is currently access 

to quality health care in the area, but several of the open-ended comments mentioned difficulty getting 

treatment with specialists. Recently, the pandemic has also made access to healthcare difficult with elective 

procedures and surgeries like joint replacements being delayed. Resources at local hospitals and health 

centers had to be redirected to better support patients with COVID-19. The pandemic did also highlight the 

need to enhance access to telemedicine and support for educating older adults on technology.  

 

The next step for Age Friendly Caribou is to take this information and develop detailed programs and 

partnerships to help meet some of these needs. By exploring challenges and solutions the committee is 

looking to improve livability in Caribou for all residents. 

19



4 
 

 

Community Profile 

 

 

 

Caribou Informatics: 

 Population: 7,710 

 Settled: 1824 Incorporated City: Feb. 23, 1967 

 City Council with seven members 

 Sites of interest: Caribou Library, Caribou Historical Society, Caribou Recreation Center 

 Education: RSU #39 includes Caribou Community School (Grades Pre-k – 8) and Caribou High School  

 Hub for local towns including Woodland, New Sweden, Stockholm, and Connor 

 Home to the only Municipally-Owned hospital in Maine, Cary Medical Center. Cary Medical Center 

was founded in 1924 by Jefferson Cary, MD.  

Caribou is the most northeastern city in the United States. It is a favorite spot to venture from when heading 

out on Maine’s interconnected snowmobile trail system to access the 1,600 miles of trails in Aroostook 

County. Winter comes early to Caribou and stays late, so we have to enjoy all that it offers with cross country 

skiing, snow shoeing, winter carnivals and more.  

Things to Do in Caribou 

Caribou features areas for golfing, biking, hunting, fishing, hiking, and climbing. World famous snowmobile 

and ATV trails pass through Caribou, which is a huge tourist draw. In the winter, you can also try skiing or 

snowshoeing. There's plenty of local shops, farms, and amazing sightseeing.  

20



5 
 

The City offers events like Thursday’s on Sweden Street (a summer street festival that takes place every other 

Thursday throughout the season), Caribou Cares for Kids festival, craft fairs, farmers markets and much 

more.  

The city also boasts walking trails, a brand new school for preK-8, a dog park, and an active parks and 

recreation program with a community recreation center that is free for residents to use. The parks and 

recreation department also hosts a variety of programs throughout the year for children and adults.  

Caribou is also a service center for the agricultural and tourism industries, and the location of a National 

Weather Service Forecast Office. 

In Caribou and throughout Aroostook County, the two major agricultural crops are potatoes and broccoli. 

Area farmers annually plant approximately 60,000 acres of potatoes. The potato crop is used for seed, table 

stock, and processed potato products. Aroostook County is the largest grower of broccoli on the East Coast. 

History 

 

 

Lumbermen and trappers first set up camps in the area in the 1810s. The first settlers came to what is now 

Caribou in the 1820s.  

Between 1838 and 1840, the undeclared Aroostook War flared between the United States and Canada, and 

the Battle of Caribou occurred in December 1838. The dispute over the international boundary delayed 

settlement of the area until after the signing of the Webster-Ashburton Treaty in 1842.  

With peace restored, European settlers arrived in gradually-increasing numbers beginning in 1843. From 

Eaton Plantation and part of half-township H, Caribou was incorporated in 1859 as the town of Lyndon on 

April 5. On February 8, 1877, Caribou was finally confirmed as the town's permanent name.  

21



6 
 

Caribou was the "jumping off" point for a large influx of settlers who emigrated directly from Sweden in 

1870–1871, and settled the nearby "Swedish colony." The small town grew throughout the late 19th century, 

and with the coming of the Bangor and Aroostook Railroad in the 1890s, agricultural exports exploded. This 

began a boom period which lasted well into the 1960s. Caribou became the largest potato shipping hub in 

the world, and had many related industries. 

Nearby to the northeast, Loring Air Force Base opened in the early 1950s near Limestone, with bomber and 

tanker aircraft of the Strategic Air Command. It provided a major economic boost to the area, with 

construction starting in 1947 on "Limestone Army Air Field." Caribou was incorporated as a city in 1967 on 

February 23rd, but the area's boom period leveled off in the 1970s as a result of difficulties in its traditional 

potato industry. That, along with closure of the base in 1994, contributed to a decline in population in the 

1980s and 1990s. 

In September 1984, Caribou was the lift-off location of the first successful solo balloon crossing of the 

Atlantic Ocean by Colonel Joseph Kittinger. This flight is memorialized at the Rosie O'Grady Balloon of Peace 

Park one mile (1.6 km) south of the city on Main Street. This site includes a large replica of Kittinger's 

balloon. 

 

Connecting to Our Work Plan 

The Age Friendly Caribou committee completed the community survey and focus groups that allowed us to 

get a better picture of the needs and priorities of older adults in our community.  

Some highlights include (note some answer taken verbatim):  

1. What do you love about Caribou? 

• My family and friends are here. Easy community to get around. Lived in other places, but still love 

Caribou. There is a lot to do if you look for it. A wonderful rec department. Find that people are 

moving here – the reason they give is that they did their research and found that Caribou is quiet, 

safe and the small population is a bonus. Support for the young people, especially with little league. 

Supportive businesses of the sports and service groups. Kids stay in school longer because of the 

sports and extra-curricular activities. 

2. What is needed for the future? 

• Transportation – is desperately needed, senior transportation especially. Need more information on 

ARTS, etc. Need people who can drive seniors or others to appointments, and around town. 

• Neighborhood systems – where people watch out for each other. Visiting angels – volunteer to check 

on people and visit. Mentorship with kids and older adults. 

• Housing – assisted living is a serious need. Elderly housing – long wait to get into housing. Pocket 

neighborhoods – 55 and older with circle of houses that are low maintenance. Assisted living with a 

pay for what you need option to help keep costs lower. In Caribou, there are homes in trust funds 

that aren’t being lived in – maybe incentivize a way to sell or buy these homes. 

• More shopping - a store that will offer a variety of things since people will not or cannot travel to 

Presque Isle for Walmart. 

22



7 
 

• Taking care of someone is also very costly, and can deplete your income and then you are left with 

nothing 

• Other comments: Sidewalks widened, more help and info to prevent scammers, hospital needs to 

connect people to resources that will help them as they are discharged – more follow-through for 

patients when they get home. 

3. What needs to work better in our community? 

• Informing community on what we have to offer, a lot of people don’t know what is going on. 

• Senior calendar that is mailed every two months – (Saco has it through their parks and rec, 

participants pay $20 a year for program info. They offer a variety of programs like a surprise 

luncheon, yoga, walking, and trips. 

• More telehealth, especially for specialists and or check in visits. Need more support groups for 

diabetes, Parkinson, mental health. 

• Organization that comes to your home to help you prepare to downsize and live in a more age 

friendly place (catholic charities). 

• Place that offers retrofitting for helping people stay in their homes longer. 

• Caribou needs a welcome info packet for new people. 

• Mentors for kids, the school needs to ask for more help from the community, there needs to be 

more focus on music and arts for kids. It’s the children, the old people need help, but without the 

children you’ve got nothing. 

Pulled from the data analysis of the survey: 

 

23



8 
 

 

Based on the comments and survey results we understand that we need to address items like aging in place, 

access to healthcare and especially access to information. There are many programs and organizations 

offering resources to meet some of the needs addressed, but connecting the people to the resources is 

noted as a challenge.  

 

24



9 
 

 

Work Plan 

Programs and activities outlined in the work plan help address the needs of our community. The method 

used for implementing the program includes continuous cycles of research, development, implementation, 

evaluation and more. This helps ensure we are using our time effectively and meeting the needs of the 

community.  

We will also work to promote local resources like the Aroostook County Action Plan winterization and fuel 

assistance, food commodity boxes, Friendly programs with the Agency on Aging, and more. There are so 

many resources, that it is more affective to partner and promote, rather than create new programs. 

 

1. Items to note  

a. Timelines may be adjusted based on availability of volunteers/staff, funding and if there is an 

emergent need.  

b. We will evaluate during program implementation to ensure programs are meeting 

community needs and adjust as needed.  

 

2. Acronyms or shortened names used in Work Plan 

a. AFC – Age Friendly Caribou 

b. AAA – Aroostook Agency on Aging 

c. Cary – Cary Medical Center 

d. Rec – Caribou Parks and Recreation 

e. TIOS – Take it Outside Series 

f. AFHS – Age Friendly Health System 

 

 

25



 

Work Plan Strategy Charts 

Domain/Initiative: Access to Health Services  

 

Activities Resources and support 

available/needed 

Potential 

barriers or 

resistance 

Responsibility & 

Timeline 

Metrics 

Telemedicine and access 

to free tablets 

Tablets that were 

donated, 

headphones, and 

library staff to 

troubleshoot 

More education on the 

availability and how to 

best use telemedicine. 

Grant to purchase new 

equipment and 

possible permanent site 

to host. 

Not tech savvy, cost 

of equipment 

 

Library and Cary Medical 

Center. Tablet program in 

place, but new resources will 

be available at the library. 

Promote when new resources 

avail. 

 Number of people 

using the resource 

 Feedback from 

participants 

 

Healthy Aging Events & 

Pop-up events 

Location, vendors, 

presenters, give-a-

ways, promotion 

 Getting people to 

attend and then take 

action from advice 

offered 

Healthy You Program Director 

and Age Friendly Program 

Director 

First program fall 2022 

 Number of 

programs offered 

 Number of 

participants 

Promotion of specialty 

clinics and programs @ 

partner healthcare orgs 

More advertising 

and education on 

specialist available 

More telemedicine 

opportunities and 

possible partnerships  

Providers already 

over booked 

Age Friendly Program 

Director and Cary PR 

Promotion can start summer 

2022, new program 2023 

 Advertising and 

social media reach 

 New partnerships 

for telemedicine 

Healthy Living for ME 

classes 

Trained staff, 

supplies, locations, 

promotion 

 Getting participants 

and being able to 

host in-person 

Cary staff trained to teach. 

Classes hosted at least every 

three months over the next 2 

years.  

 Participants 

numbers 

 Evaluations 

Safe Home Meds & 

suicide prevention  

Brochures, 

advertising, host 

seminars, promote 

resources 

Certified educators for 

suicide prevention 

programs  

Suicide is a tough 

subject.  

Cary Community Relations 

enhance and launch 

education programs by Dec. 

2022 

 Social media 

engagement 

 Program 

participants 

26



 

Age Friendly Health 

System partnership  

Cary is a AFHS, look 

at new programs like 

home check-ins 

Partnership between 

program directors on 

programs and support 

Staff numbers for 

program support 

Kate Callicott AFHS director 

and Age Friendly Program 

Director. Establish programs 

by 2023/24 

 Development of 

new partnership and 

new programs 

Advance Care Planning Documents, health 

center participation, 

promotion, locations 

for events 

Trained ACP and 

financial planning 

people to present, 

hospital campaign to 

promote Advance care 

directives for all people 

Education on the 

differences between 

ACD, DNRs, and 

medical directives 

AFC program director, 

lawyers or new partners 

Start program summer or fall 

2022, with possible hospital 

campaign launch 

 Participation at 

events 

 Media coverage 

 Social media reach 

 

 

Domain/Initiative: Stay in home / access to services and housing 

 

Activities Resources and support 

available/needed 

Potential 

barriers or 

resistance 

Responsibility & 

Timeline 

Metrics 

Sand Buckets and Snow 

Shovel Program 

Source for sand, 

promotion 

Volunteers, more 

buckets, shovels (if 

needed) 

Need reliable 

volunteers to deliver 

the buckets or show 

up to shovel 

AFC Snow subcommittee. 

Start recruiting and 

promotion Sept. 2022. 

Continue each winter.  

 Number of people 

using the resource 

 Feedback from 

participants 

 Volunteers 

AAA Friendly Helpers 

partnership & Friendly 

Callers 

Good relationship 

with AAA, 

promotion, also 

include Sheriff’s call 

program 

More volunteers from 

Caribou area 

Volunteer 

recruitment 

AAA and AFC director. Start 

recruitment and promotion 

July 2022. Ongoing 

 Volunteers 

 Number of 

participants 

Fire Safety – lock box and 

file of life promotion 

Good relationship 

with the fire 

department, location 

to host programs, 

promotion 

Grant to fund lock 

boxes and file of life, 

volunteers or fire 

fighters to help install  

Funding AFC committee and Caribou 

FD. 

April or May Coffee Talk, 

additional programs early 

2023. 

 Number of 

Participants  

  

27



 

 

Domain/Initiative: Transportation 

 

Activities Resources and support 

available/needed 

Potential 

barriers or 

resistance 

Responsibility & 

Timeline 

Metrics 

Caribou Area Ride Service 

– help promote and 

support new program 

Promotion resources   Volunteer drivers CARS is a program that we 

will be supporting, but is 

managed by a local non-

profit through a grant. 

Launching May 2022 

 Number of people 

using the resource 

 Feedback from 

participants 

 Volunteers 

 

 

Domains/Initiatives: Respect & Social Inclusion & Participation 

 

Activities Resources and support 

available/needed 

Potential 

barriers or 

resistance 

Responsibility & 

Timeline 

Metrics 

Host Reframing Aging 

Trainings for community, 

with focus on local 

businesses 

Partnership with 

AAA and their 

trainers, partnership 

with Chamber of 

Commerce, location, 

promotion 

Coordination of the 

people involved to host 

program 

Participation AFC program director 

Timeline early 2023 

 Participants 

 Feedback 

 Media coverage 

 Social Media reach 

Coffee Talks Location, presenters, 

coffee donations, 

promotion 

Lining up presenters  Participation and 

engaging presenters 

AFC program director and 

committee  

Timeline start April/May 2022 

 Number of 

participants 

 Evaluations 

28



 

Tech Talks (one-on-one 

technology training) 

Established program 

with great success. 

Location, supplies, 

promotion 

Promotion for more 

participants and need 

more volunteers 

Volunteers to help Partner more with AAA with 

their Friendly Techie program. 

AFC program director. 

Ongoing – new times each 

month 

 Participation 

 Evaluation 

 Volunteer 

recruitment 

Senior Senior Prom Promotion, print 

design, band, 

location,  

Food, decoration, 

volunteer team, places 

to sell tickets, 

photographer, 

sponsorships 

Volunteers and 

sponsorships 

AFC Sub-committee 

September 2022 

 Participation 

 Comments from 

participants 

 Sponsors  

Resource Magnet and 

Guide 

Already printed and 

distributed. A 

popular resource.  

Need to update with 

new numbers and 

resources, cost to print, 

look at more detailed 

guide or 2-1-1 promo 

N/A AFC program director and 

local organizations that help 

distribute 

ongoing 

 Number distributed 

 Feedback 

Senior Santa  - gift tree 

and distribution of gifts to 

local seniors in need 

A successful 

program hosted for 

2 years. Promotion, 

distribution,  

Donations, volunteers, 

updated lists of 

recipients  

N/A AFC Program Director, Sub-

committee, meals on wheels 

team, local senior housing 

Nov. – Dec. each year 

 Number of 

donations 

 Media coverage 

 Response from 

recipients 

Senior Smiles Card 

Program – distribute 

cards on holidays 

throughout the year 

Promotion, 

distribution lists 

Volunteers, materials to 

make cards if needed 

 AFC sub-committee 

Launch for 4th of July 2022, 

and continue for established 

holidays 

 Cards distributed 

 Volunteer 

participation 

Thursday’s on Sweden 

Street Booth (Old Timers 

Advice, Pop-up Tech Talk) 

Table, tent, chairs, 

give-a-ways, 

promotion from City 

for event 

Register the booth, 

volunteers to man the 

booth 

Volunteers AFC Committee 

Set TOS dates for summer 

2022 

 Number of people 

engaged at event 

 Volunteers that help 

  

29



 

 

Domain/Initiative: Outdoor Spaces 

 

Activities Resources and support 

available/needed 

Potential 

barriers or 

resistance 

Responsibility & 

Timeline 

Metrics 

Community Garden or 

Seed Library 

Small amount of 

funding, promotion 

resources, 

partnership with Rec 

Someone to build or 

loan boxes, materials, 

location to host garden, 

volunteers to manage  

Volunteers, finding 

best location, 

permission from City 

for land use 

Planning – AFC program 

director, volunteer from 

committee to lead 

Possible summer 2023 or 

later 

 Usage 

 Volunteers 

 

Rec program partnership TIOS program, pickle 

ball, other rec 

exercise programs, 

promotion 

resources,  

Research ideas and 

meet with Rec on how 

we can partner on 

these programs to 

support each other 

 AFC Program Director / 

committee, Rec program 

coordinator 

Start summer 2022 for 

ongoing relationship 

 Participation 

 Partner Program 

Development 

Dog Park Meet-ups Dog park, promotion Liability and rules 

outlined, sponsor for 

treats 

participants AFC committee 

Possible start summer 2022 

or Fall 2022 depending on 

volunteers 

 Participants 

 Volunteers 

 Sponsors 

Trail maps and walking 

events 

Promotion 

resources, walking 

trails in town, Cary 

support 

Development of new 

trail maps, volunteers, 

possible Boy Scout 

partnership 

Volunteers, printing 

map cost 

AFC Program Director, Cary 

Healthy You Director, 

Volunteers 

Summer 2023 

 Event participants 

 Map distribution 

 Media coverage 

 

 

 

 

30



 

Domain/Initiative: Civic Participation 

 

Activities Resources and support 

available/needed 

Potential 

barriers or 

resistance 

Responsibility & 

Timeline 

Metrics 

Rides to Vote CARS partnership, 

promotion 

Volunteer drivers, 

established drive times, 

maybe be able to use 

Rec van? 

Volunteers to drive AFC committee, CARS 

Election day 

 Usage 

 Volunteers 

 

Host Legislator and 

Community Leader Q&As 

Promotion, access to 

legislators, location, 

snack/drink 

donations 

Maybe use CARS for 

rides to event or Zoom 

options, community 

leader participation 

Participation AFC director, committee 

Late summer early fall before 

elections 2022. Host annually. 

 Participation 

 Media coverage 

 Social media metrics 

 

Domain/Initiative: Access to Information 

 

Activities Resources and support 

available/needed 

Potential 

barriers or 

resistance 

Responsibility & 

Timeline 

Metrics 

Website and Facebook 

pages 

Already have FB 

page and web page 

on City website 

Need to update 

website on a more 

frequent basis and 

promote 

 AFC Program Director and 

volunteer to update 

ongoing 

 Usage 

 Volunteers 

 

Local Access TV 

programing and media 

partnerships 

We have established 

relationships with 

local media and can 

get programming on 

local access 

To ensure we send 

press releases and 

information on 

programs to keep them 

informed  

 AFC Program Director 

ongoing 

 Participation 

 Media coverage 

 Social media metrics 

31



 

 

Evaluation Matrix 

 

Program Strengths Weaknesses  Opportunities  Metrics Recorded  

For evaluation purposes we will 

address the strengths of each 

program 

Weaknesses will be identified Opportunities for improvement or 

change to better reach audience 

or enhance program 

Metrics identified will be recorded 

for each program 

 

Tech Talk    

Strengths: great feedback from 

participants, location is good, 

advertising and support from 

library is working 

Need more volunteers and have 

had a lull in participation  

Enhance advertising to reach more 

participants. Launch volunteer 

recruitment 

22 participants for an average of 2 

participants a month. Some 

participants came multiple times 

which increases the average to 4 a 

month. 

 

 

 

   

    

 

 

Each program will be entered into the evaluation matrix to ensure goals are being met and to address any weaknesses and opportunities.

32



 

 

Appendix I 

Programs Implemented or On-going 

 

Book Donation to the Caribou Library 

 

      

Sand Buckets & Senior Santa 

 

33



 

 

Isolation & Suicide Prevention 

 

 

       

Thursdays on Sweden Street (we partnered with Fort Fairfield to promote their home repair 

program) 

 

 

34



 35



 36



 

 

The first Tech Talk program 

 

 

37



  
 

 
May 9, 2022  
 
Noël Bonam AARP Maine State Director  
53 Baster Blvd  
Portland ME 04101  
 
Dear Mr. Bonam,  
 
On behalf of the City of Caribou, I am pleased to submit the Age Friendly Caribou 
Action Plan. Caribou recognizes the importance of encouraging and promoting age-
friendly planning and policies to address changing demographics and to enhance 
independent living. We are also committed to a process of continual improvement to 
support active and healthy aging.   
 
Caribou is a warm and friendly community and we recognize the needs of our growing 
older adult population.  It is our desire to engage our community and implement this 
robust plan to help older adults enjoy the wonderful environment we share and to remain 
active and engaged members of our community. 
 
As part of our involvement and commitment, we conducted an assessment that helped 
drive the priority programs, and we will continue to involve older residents deeply in the 
planning, implementation and evaluation of our plan.  
 
We understand that this action plan is a valuable resource for community members, 
organizations and stakeholders, as this will allow them to keep track of our goals and get 
involved with programs that they can best support. We look forward to working together 
more to celebrate older adults and promote healthy living, active lifestyles and endless 
adventures!  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor 

Municipal Building 
25 High Street 

Caribou, ME 04736 
Telephone (207) 493-5961 

Fax (207 498-3954 
 www.cariboumaine.org 

City of Caribou 

Office of the Caribou City Council 

38



39



40



City Manager's Report
May 9, 2022

Economic Projects

   

River Front - Powerplants
I reached out to Mr. Marker for his recollections about the history of the project. He has responded and I am working through the 
information he provided.

Broadband Initiative
More information is coming out all the time. There was a webinar from PretiFlaherty Friday May 6 about some of the new 
developments and I am hoping that some points will be clarified.

CDBG Letter of Intent for C&J submitted on time. C&J worked with Graham Warne from NMDC.

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates

Events and Marketing City‐Wide Yard sale is this weekend!  Thursdays on Sweden, Caribou Cares about Kids and the Craft Fair all in the works.

Landbank No new updates

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates

Federal American Rescue Plan Act
Application for the County ARPA funds was submitted on time.  Still have not received resolution on web permissions from the 
Department of Treasury to complete the report that was due 4/30. The required conflict of interest policy is on the agenda tonight.

Blight Cleanup CEO Murchison is working on notices of violation.

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates

60 Access Highway
Final resolution: The only party not to pay their obligation was County Bag. Attorney Solman said that County Bag has been 
administratively dissolved and therefore the City will not be able to collect.

River Front - Master Plan Staff would like to apply for a planning grant from the Libra Foundation (on tonight's agenda).

Façade Improvement Program No new updates

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates

Jarosz Storage - Limestone St A permit has been issued for additional cold storage units.

Business Outreach Attended the ribbon cutting ceremony at "Thrive Body Spa".  41



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy
We did have an inquiry from an abutting land owner with interest in a piece of land. Staff is working to determine the best course of 
action in keeping with state statute and our tax acquired property policy.

Nylander No new updates

Fire Structural Work No new updates

Fire Station Renovations No new updates

Police Station
There will be a vote on the June ballot. I have had conversations with USDA/RD about their Community Facilities loan program 
should the question be passed. She expects the interest rate to increase in July.

River Road No new updates

Investment Policy
There was an investment committee meeting and it was agreed to renew the certificates of deposit for a shorter term as interest 
rates are forecasted to rise.

Trailer Park Closure Three families still in the park.

Fish Hatchery Bridge No new updates

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates

Airport No new updates

Personnel Policy No new updates

Procurement Policy No new updates

New LED Street lights The online tool is not working but we are able to report outages by email.

Comp Plan Update No new updates

COVID-19 Status COVID‐19 community levels still high in Aroostook County

Administrative Approvals City Clerk Business Licenses renewed: Caldwell's Sanitation 

Personnel Changes The two new employees in the Public Works department (one full‐time, one part‐time) are working out well

Age-Friendly Efforts Age‐Friendly meeting held 5/4. The Age‐Friendly Caribou Action Plan is on tonight's agenda.

Other Updates Meetings this week: Penny will be out of the office 5/11 to 5/13. 42



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Sample ordinance on snow removal from hydrants 

  

This issue was brought up at the last meeting. 

Staff was requested to bring back a sample ordinance for City Council consideration. 

During the budget process, it was noted that CUD charges the City of Caribou $325,000 annually 
for hydrant rental and the PUC rules would allow a charge of $355,000. If the CUD was required 
to clear the snow from the hydrants, it would most likely result in a higher charge.  

As discussed at the last meeting, I contacted MMA about any potential liability on the City’s part 
and was given this answer from Richard P. Flewelling, Senior Staff Attorney from MMA: 

“My anecdotal impression is that in most municipalities, it’s either the fire department or the 
public works department that clears snow from fire hydrants regardless of whether the hydrants 
are owned by the municipality or a separate water or utilities district. You might be able to 
gather some more direct information about this by using the MTCMA’s listserv to ask your 
counterparts in other municipalities. 

With respect to potential municipal liability for failure to clear fire hydrants of snow, I doubt 
there is any. Specifically, I cannot identify any exception to the general grant of immunity under 
the Maine Tort Claims Act (14 M.R.S. Sections 8101-8118) that would include fire hydrants 
rendered unusable due to snow or ice.” 

I also asked on the MTCMA ListServ and received many varied responses ranging from the Water 
District, a paid contractor, to a joint effort by the Fire Department and Public Works. 

Suggestion Action: 

If the City Council wants to proceed with this course of action then it would need to be introduced 
for a public hearing at the June 13, 2022 Caribou City Council meeting. 

43



Ordinance Introduced by __________________ 
on ________________, 2022 

 
ORDINANCE No. 5, 2022 Series 

 
City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 
State of Maine 

 
An Ordinance To Amend Chapter 5, Fire Prevention to clarify the responsibility for snow removal from 
the hydrants located within the City of Caribou 
Short Title: An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 5, Fire Prevention 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has adopted as part of its ordinances the regulations contained 
within Chapter 5, Fire Prevention; and 
 
WHEREAS, it has only been assumed and not defined that the City of Caribou Public Works 
department would remove the snow from the hydrants located within the City of Caribou; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council desires to clarify the responsibility for snow removal from 
the hydrants located within the City of Caribou; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Caribou Utilities District owns and maintains the fire hydrants within the City of 
Caribou and the City of Caribou pays an annual lease for these hydrants as allowed by the Public 
Utilities Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou Utilities District has on occasion, removed the snow from said hydrants, 
and going forward shall be responsible for the snow removal from all hydrants within the City of 
Caribou; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11(1), does ordain 
the following: 
 
Section I. Revisions 
Chapter 5 Fire Prevention, Article VII Fire Protection Equipment shall be amended as follows: 
 
5-703 Snow Removal from Fire Hydrants 
 
The Caribou Utilities District will remove all snow from fire hydrants within the City of Caribou 
after each storm as to have a path cleared in the event of a fire.  
 

44



Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on the _____ day of ____________ 2022 and a public hearing 
being held on the ______ day of _______________ 2022 was duly passed by the City Council of 
the City of Caribou, Maine, this _____day of __________________ 2022. This ordinance shall 
become effective thirty (30) days after adoption by the Council.  

 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor     Courtney Boma, Deputy Mayor  
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
R. Mark Goughan, Councilor    Doug Morrell, Councilor 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
John Morrill, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor 
 
___________________________________   
Lou Willey, Councilor  
         Attest:______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

45



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   ARPA Conflict of Interest Policy 

  

It was brought to the City Council at a previous meeting that, in a legal update received from 
Maine Municipal Association, all municipalities must adopt a conflict-of-interest policy to spend 
their ARPA funds in compliance with U.S. Treasury regulations.  

Maine Municipal Association has provided a sample uniform federal grant guidance conflict of 
interest policy. City Legal Counsel has reviewed and approved the sample language. 

 

Suggestion action: 

Please move, second and vote to approve Resolution 05-01-2022 “ARPA Conflict of Interest 
Policy” 

 

 

 

46



 

 

 

Resolution 05-01-2022 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Adopting the ARPA Conflict of Interest Policy 

 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Council has received ARPA NEU funds, and 
 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Council desires to use these funds in a manner consistent with the 
guidelines set forth by the federal government, and 
 
WHEREAS, The Maine Municipal Association has produced, and the City of Caribou legal counsel has 
approved the attached 2-page Conflict of Interest Policy, and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY, THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL, that the city will 
adopt and follow the attached 2-page Conflict of Interest Policy 

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
9th day of May, 2022.  
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

[City Seal]    

47



 
Municipality of Caribou 

Conflict of Interest Policy for Local Fiscal Recovery Fund Projects 
2 CFR § 200.318 

I. Purpose 
 

The purpose of this policy is to establish conflict of interest guidelines that meet 
requirements under 2 C.F.R. § 200.318(c)(1) for procuring goods, services, and 
construction or repair projects funded in whole or part by federal Local Fiscal Recovery 
Funds received pursuant to the American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”)(Pub. L. No. 117-2, 
March 11, 2021). 

 
II. Policy 

 

This policy applies when the municipality procures goods (apparatus, supplies, materials, 
and equipment), services, and construction or repair projects funded in part or whole 
with federal Local Fiscal Recovery Funds received pursuant to the American Rescue Plan 
Act (ARPA). This policy also applies to any subrecipient of the ARPA funds. 

 
The employee(s) or official(s) responsible for managing the ARPA award shall review the 
notice of award to identify any additional conflict of interest prohibitions or requirements 
associated with the award, and shall notify all employees, officers, officials and agents, 
including subrecipients, of the requirements of this policy and any additional prohibitions 
or requirements. 

 
A. Conflicts of Interest. No officer, official, employee, or agent of the municipality may 

participate directly or indirectly in the selection, award, or administration of a 
contract supported by ARPA funding if he or she has a real or apparent conflict of 
interest. A real or apparent conflict exists when any of the following parties has a 
financial or other interest in or receives a tangible personal benefit from a firm 
considered for award of a contract: 

1. the employee, officer, official or agent involved in the selection, award, or 
administration of a contract; 

2. any member of his or her immediate family; 
3. his or her partner; or 
4. an organization which employs or is about to employ any of these parties. 

 
Any officer, official, employee or agent with an actual, apparent, or potential conflict 
of interest as defined in this policy shall report the conflict to his or her immediate 
supervisor or, in the case of a board member, shall make disclosure to at a duly 
noticed board meeting. Any such conflict shall be disclosed in writing to the federal 
award agency or pass-through entity in accordance with applicable U.S. Treasury 
(awarding agency) policy. 
 
 
 
 

 48



B. Gifts. Officers, officials, employees, and agents of the municipality are prohibited 
from accepting or soliciting gifts, gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value 
from contractors, suppliers, or parties to subcontracts. Items of nominal value valued 
at less than $25 which fall into one of the following categories may be accepted: 

1. promotional items; 
2. honorariums for participation in meetings; or 
3. meals furnished at banquets. 

 
Any officer, official, employee or agent who knowingly accepts an item of nominal 
value allowed under this policy shall report the item to his or her immediate 
supervisor, or in the case of a board member, to the board. 

 
III. Violation 

 

Employees or appointed officials violating this policy will be subject to discipline 
consistent with applicable policy, charter, ordinance or law, which may include 
termination or removal from office. Elected officials violating the policy may be subject 
to censure or other penalty consistent with any municipal charter. Violation of this policy 
by a contractor or subrecipient may result in breach or termination of the contract and 
will impact the contractor’s eligibility for future contract awards. 

 
 
 

Adopted by the Municipal Officers on  , 2022. 
 
 
___________________________________                                        ___________________________________ 
 

 
 

___________________________________                                        ___________________________________ 
 
 
 

___________________________________                                        ___________________________________ 
 
 
 

                                                                      ___________________________________ 
 
 
                                                                                                               Attest: ____________________________________ 
                                                                                                                              Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 

49



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Libra Foundation planning grant for the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee  

  

Karen Gorman has been working to find grants to fund community projects. She has found that 
the Libra Foundation has awarded grants for projects like what is needed to develop a strategic 
plan to further the mission of the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee. 

This grant requires no matching funds. One requirement is that the filing request (grant 
application) has been authorized by the Board of Directors (the Caribou City Council). 

One thing that has been learned during my time as City Manager is that to get grant funds, the 
project needs to be “shovel ready” and that begins with having a strategic plan. 

  

Suggestion Action: 

Please make a motion, second and vote to approve and sign the attached resolution authorizing 
staff to proceed with the filing request. 

50



 

 

 

Resolution 05-02-2022 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Authorizing a Charitable Grant Application to the Libra Foundation 

 
WHEREAS, The revitalization of the Caribou riverfront area has been a stated priority for many years and 
is incorporated into current planning documents such as the 2008 Downtown District Plan and 2014 
Comprehensive Plan, and 
 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Council desires to take positive actions to identify riverfront assets, set goals 
and ultimately restore the riverfront as a vital part of the community through the work of the Caribou 
Riverfront Renaissance Committee, and 
 
WHEREAS, The Libra Foundation supports activities, operations and purposes for charitable organizations 
within the State of Maine, and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY, THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL, that the city will 
authorize staff to submit a charitable grant application to the Libra Foundation for the purposes of funding a 
planning grant to determine a physically possible and financially feasible course of action consistent with the 
goals of the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee, all applicable statutes, and the natural resources 
available. 

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
9th day of May, 2022.  
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

[City Seal]    

51



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   City Manager 6-month evaluation and satisfaction of probation period  

  

On October 18, 2021, the Caribou City Council entered into a contract with Penny Thompson for 
the position of Caribou City Manager. 

Chapter 2 – Administration of the City of Caribou ordinances outlines that newly hired  employees 
will be subject to a probationary period of six (6) months. 

Penny Thompson was given a favorable 6-month evaluation by a majority of the Caribou City 
Council in executive session after the April 25, 2022 meeting. 

The Personnel Policy requires that “The Council Personnel Committee jointly with the Mayor shall 
complete the evaluation on the City Manager. This evaluation shall be approved by the City 
Council , with the final vote taken in public session. The evaluation report will be signed by the 
Mayor and/or Chairman of the Personnel Committee and maintained in a confidential file …” 

 

Suggestion Action: 

Please make a motion, second and vote to approve and sign the attached resolution accepting 
the 6-month evaluation and satisfaction of the City Manager’s 6-month probation period and the 
authorizing the Mayor to sign the evaluation report. 

52



 

 

 

Resolution 05-03-2022 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Accepting the 6-month evaluation report of the City Manager  

 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Council has entered into a contract with Penny Thompson on October 18, 
2021 for the position of City Manager for an indefinite term, and 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 2 – Administration of the City of Caribou ordinances outlines that newly hired  
employees will be subject to a probationary period of six (6) months, and 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 2 – Administration of the City of Caribou ordinances requires that “The Council 
Personnel Committee jointly with the Mayor shall complete the evaluation on the City Manager. This 
evaluation shall be approved by the City Council , with the final vote taken in public session. The evaluation 
report will be signed by the Mayor and/or Chairman of the Personnel Committee and maintained in a 
confidential file …”, and 
 
WHEREAS, Penny Thompson has been given a favorable 6-month evaluation report by a majority of the 
Caribou City Council, and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY, THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL, that Penny 
Thompson has satisfied the probationary period for the position of Caribou City Manager. 

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
9th day of May, 2022.  
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

[City Seal]    

53



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Re-establish the tradition of honoring the oldest citizen in Caribou with the transmittal of the 
Boston Post Cane 

  

May is Older Americans Month. As part of this celebration, I would like to re-establish the 
tradition of honoring the oldest citizen in Caribou with the transmittal of the Boston Post Cane. 

I have asked other members of staff including Library Director Peter Baldwin and City Clerk 
Danielle Brissette for assistance and while we can not find Caribou’s original Boston Post Cane, 
my research has led me to a source to procure a replica cane. 

Once the oldest citizen can be contacted, the City Council can officially transmit the honor at a 
later meeting.  

 

Suggestion Action: 

Please make a motion, second and vote to approve the recommendation to re-establish the 
tradition of honoring the oldest citizen in Caribou with the transmittal of the Boston Post Cane.  

54



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Request to convey the east half of Violette Street extension where it adjoins Lot 46 

  

On October 29, 2021, J&A, LLC purchased a parcel of property, City of Caribou Map 41 Lot 8 from 
Roger and Jennifer Plante: 

 

On the map, it indicates that the west half of Violette Street extension where it meets Lot 45 was 
incorporated into Map 41 Lot 7. Further research establishes that on October 15, 2004, the City 
of Caribou conveyed this (and another section) from the survey and plan of the Walter J. and 
Rose Marie Corriveau Subdivision by A.H. Rheinlander, Surveyor, which plan was projected 
August 14, 1956, and recorded at the Southern Aroostook Registry of Deeds in Volume 14, Page 
31 and notes, ‘this conveyance is to parts of paper streets that are shown on the aforesaid survey 
and plan but never developed as streets’. 

The deed referenced above, Book 4039 Page 25, was prepared by a local attorney and not staff. 

The new owner, Jeremiah Flannery has contacted the City about conveying the east half of 
Violette Street extension where it adjoins Lot 46 (Lot 46 of the subdivision is Map 41 Lot 8). 

 

Suggestion Action: 

This could be a first read or if you approve, please make a motion, second and vote to convey the 
east half of Violette Street extension where it adjoins Lot 46 (Lot 46 of the subdivision is Map 41 
Lot 8) to J&A, LLC with the understanding that all costs for the transfer be paid by J&A, LLC and 
that the conveyed parcel will be combined with Book 6245 Page 238, Plante to J&A LLC. 

55



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Request received by Caleb Trombley to Opt-in to Retail Marijuana in Caribou 

  

Caleb Trombley, on behalf of Wicked Kind Farmacy, has requested that the City of Caribou “opt-
in of all forms of retail medical marijuana stores in the city”. His request is attached. 

MMA has regularly offered legal updates municipal marijuana regulation due to the frequent 
changes in the law. I have attached some of the recent resources. 

Staff has attended legal updates and the overwhelming sentiment is that municipalities must 
proceed with caution. Any process would need citizen input and significant work from the 
Planning Board and City Council after consultation with legal counsel. Other area communities 
who have opted-in should be contacted to determine what municipal services are impacted with 
this type of business (i.e. are there more calls for service from police and EMS to or related to the 
establishments) and what lessons were learned during the roll-out of adding the operations. 

The question about marijuana did go to Maine voters and Caribou voters voted 62% against the 
question’s passage. Therefore, if the City Council would like to act on this request, a good first 
step would be a vote to determine the support of the citizens to opt-in. 

The feedback to staff from the community has been against opening retail stores within the City 
of Caribou. 

The Town of Lebanon (population 6,469) has ordinances regulating: adult use marijuana 
business, medical marijuana business and registered caregiver licensing. The Lebanon Medical 
Marijuana Business Ordinance is included in the packet. It was approved by voters August 3, 
2021, by a vote of 327 to 319 with 1 blank. 

 

Suggestion Action: 

This is brought forward due to Mr. Trombley’s request. Much work would need to be done to 
bring this back as an actionable item to take to voters. 

56



 

Wicked Kind Farmacy  
Caribou, ME 
(207) 479-7620 
calebt.wkf@aol.com 

Opt-In Request 

14th March 2022 

OVERVIEW 
        This is a formal request from I, Caleb Trombley on behalf of Wicked Kind Farmacy, to the city of Caribou 
for the opt-in of all forms of retail medical marijuana stores in the city. Ideally, the current state laws would be 
amended but we understand the council and planning board has some worries about this section. We would 
recommend that the council takes what reasonable measures they deem necessary to not cause these various 
issues to arise. 

        While there are currently options available, the verbiage of the laws that are in place conflict with the 
current state laws, which make it impossible to execute our business plan in this community.  

        We are a young, experienced, driven team that plans on working as cooperatively and transparently with 
the council as possible to change this for the members of the community. 

GOALS 

1.  

2.  

3. Provide quality medicine to our patients in a clean, safe, and welcoming environment.  
4.  
5.  
6.  
7. Educate the public on the various different types and forms of medicine we provide.  
8.  
9.  
10.  
11. Create new funding avenues for the city of Caribou. 
12.  
13.  
14.  
15. Create a community of caregivers, patients, and consultants alike.  
16.  
17.  
18.  
19. End the stigma that’s been cast over this industry for years.  
20.  

 

57

mailto:calebt.wkf@aol.com


ABOUT US 

        Being from the Caribou-Woodland area, I’ve developed a relationship with many 
of the community members along the course of my life. After moving to the Bangor 
area after graduating high school and quickly getting to work in this industry, I realized 
this is what I wanted to do.  

        After doing so, a common trend I noticed among my peers is a lack of affordable, 
quality medicine in the Caribou area. Now that we are in a position to change that, we 
and the citizens would greatly appreciate it if the council members could find the time 
to make this a reality. It’s going to be a lot of work, but we are more than willing to do 
what it takes to get this done.  
Many thanks, 

Caleb 

Founder 
 
 

 
 

58



Prepared by MMA Legal Services. For more information on marijuana and municipalities, please contact our office at 800-
452-8786, or visit our Member Center website at www.memun.org.                                         

Is the registered caregiver operating a 
store, manufacturing facility, testing 

facility or dispensary?

No
Yes

Has municipality opted-in to that type 
of establishment?

Yes

Do opt-in limits on 
number or type of 

establishments allow for 
additional establishment?

Yes

No

No

NOT 
AUTHORIZED

Does municipality have regulations 
directly regulating registered 

caregivers? (Municipalities cannot 
prohibit or limit number of 

caregivers, but can regulate them)

Was establishment 
in operation before 

12/13/2018?

Did it receive specific
municipal approval 
before 12/13/2018?

No

N

Yes

Yes

Is registered caregiver 
compliant with all local
land use, zoning, or 
business regulations?

Yes

Authorized subject to 
state registration and local 
ordinance requirements.

Does the individual have a state-
issued registry identification card? 

(CEO can verify with OMP)

Does individual qualify 
as an unregistered 

caregiver?

Authorized subject to 
state registration and 
generally applicable local 
ordinance requirements. 

No

No

No

NOT 
AUTHORIZED

Yes

Activity authorized
subject to state 
limitations
(municipalities cannot 
directly regulate 
unregistered caregivers)

Yes

NOT 
AUTHORIZED

NOT 
AUTHORIZED

Authorizedd Medicall 
MMarijuanaa Activityy 

Floww Chart 

Yes

Yes

Yes

YesYes

Yes

Yes
Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Has municipality imposed limits 
on the number or types of 

establishments?

No

59



Updated October 27, 2021

Maine Marijuana Statutes Cheat Sheet (Current as of October 27, 2021)
Prepared by MMA Legal Services. For more information on marijuana and municipalities, please contact our office at 
800-452-8786, or visit our Member Center website at www.memun.org. 

Marijuana Legalization Act (or Adult Use Marijuana Law) – 28-B M.R.S. §§ 101-1504

- Legalizes the use and commercial sale of marijuana for recreational (adult use) purposes
- Personal use and cultivation allowed state-wide – can grow up to 3 mature plants, 12 immature plants and unlimited 

seedlings
- Establishes state licensing process for 4 types of adult use marijuana establishments: cultivation facilities (including 

nurseries), retail stores, products manufacturing facilities, and testing facilities – NO social clubs
- Default is prohibition – municipality must vote to “opt in” to operation of adult use marijuana establishments within 

the municipality (if it wants to allow them)
- State licensing through Office of Marijuana Policy (OMP), conditioned on municipal approval – commercial sale and 

production began October 9, 2020
- Municipalities may regulate adult use marijuana establishments locally
- Municipalities may regulate home cultivation, but may not generally prohibit, zone, or license the activity
- State collects 10% sales tax on retail sales and excise tax on weight or quantity of marijuana and marijuana products–

no state-municipal revenue sharing or local option taxation

Maine Medical Use of Marijuana Act – 22 M.R.S. §§ 2421-2430-H

- Legalizes the use and distribution of marijuana for medical purposes by qualifying patients, medical providers, 
caregivers, dispensaries, manufacturing facilities, and testing facilities

- Establishes registration requirements through OMP for medical marijuana caregivers, dispensaries, manufacturing 
facilities, and testing facilities 

- Authorizes registered caregivers to operate medical marijuana retail stores (“retail store” now defined by statute)
- Allows 6 additional registered dispensaries, and unlimited dispensaries after 2021
- Local code enforcement officers can verify caregiver registration information with OMP
- Municipalities may regulate registered caregivers, registered caregiver retail stores, registered dispensaries, testing 

facilities, and manufacturing facilities, except municipalities cannot prohibit or limit number of caregivers
- Default is prohibition – municipality must vote to “opt in” to operation of registered caregiver retail stores, 

registered dispensaries, testing facilities, and manufacturing facilities (if it wants to allow them)
- Medical marijuana establishments already in operation with “municipal approval” as of December 13, 2018 are 

grandfathered – “municipal approval” means examination/approval of use of premises for medical marijuana purposes
- Most medical marijuana products sold by registered caregivers and dispensaries subject to 5.5% sales tax.  Edible 

marijuana products subject to 8% sales tax – no state-municipal revenue sharing or local option taxation

Hemp & CBD – 7 M.R.S. § 2231

- Allows individuals to “plant, grow, harvest, possess, process, sell and buy hemp” if they hold a state license
- Municipal regulation of hemp not addressed – Maine Agriculture Protection Act (7 M.R.S. Ch.6) may apply
- New legislation, effective 3/27/19, redefines “hemp” to include all derivatives, namely cannabidiol (CBD), and 

intends to allow production and sale of hemp and hemp-derived products in intrastate commerce with hemp license
- New legislation, effective 9/12/19, overhauls hemp licensing process and amends definitions of “marijuana” in both 

marijuana laws to exclude hemp as defined by the hemp statute
- Hemp and hemp-derived CBD regulated by hemp statute only. Maine’s marijuana statutes do not apply 
- Under federal law sale of CBD in interstate commerce still restricted.

60



Maine Municipal Association Legal Services 
Medical Marijuana Packet   November 2021 

 
 

Local Regulation  

➔ Municipal Opt-in 

The MMUMA prohibits the operation of any new registered caregiver retail stores, registered 
dispensaries, testing facilities, and manufacturing facilities after December 13, 2018, unless the 
municipal legislative body has voted to allow the operation of these types of facilities within the 
municipality. 22 M.R.S. § 2429-D(3). In other words, such facilities are prohibited by default 
unless a municipality’s legislative body has voted to “opt in” to their operation. This municipal 
authorization is similar to the municipal “opt-in” authorization required before adult use 
marijuana establishments may operate under the Adult Use Marijuana Act (28-B M.R.S. §§ 101-
1504). 

There is one significant caveat to this default prohibition: municipalities may not prohibit 
registered caregiver retail stores, dispensaries, testing facilities, or manufacturing facilities in 
operation with municipal approval prior to December 13, 2018. This means that all such facilities 
already operating with municipal approval may continue to operate even if the legislative body 
does not vote to “opt in” to the operation of new commercial medical marijuana establishments 
in general. Additionally, “municipal approval” means approval of the particular medical 
marijuana-related use, it does not mean an approved business license or land use permit that 
does not address the use of the facility or structure for a medical marijuana-related activity (22 
M.R.S. § 2429-D(2)).  

Note that the default prohibition applies to registered caregiver retail stores, not to registered 
caregivers generally. Under the MMUMA, municipalities are expressly precluded from 
prohibiting or limiting the number of registered caregivers within their jurisdiction (22 M.R.S. § 
2429-D(1)). 

➔ Home Rule Authority to Regulate 

The MMUMA expressly recognizes municipal home rule authority to regulate registered 
caregivers, registered caregiver retail stores, registered dispensaries, marijuana testing 
facilities, and manufacturing facilities (22 M.R.S. § 2429-D). By ordinance, municipalities have 
the authority to directly regulate registered caregiver activities through means such as 
permitting, performance standards, or local licensing and reasonable licensing fees, as long as 
such regulation does not prohibit or limit the number of registered caregivers in the municipality. 
Municipalities can prohibit or limit the number of caregiver retail stores, dispensaries, testing 
facilities or manufacturing facilities. They may also impose permitting, performance standards, 
or licensing requirements on some or all types of such commercial medical marijuana 
establishments. 

➔ Municipal Access to Caregiver Information 

The MMUMA protects as confidential the information provided to the state in a caregiver 
registration application (22 M.R.S. § 2425-A(12)). However, upon request by a local code 
enforcement officer (or if a municipality does not employ a code enforcement officer, a municipal 
officer), the state Office of Marijuana Policy (“OMP”) is required to verify the registry 
identification card and conduct of a caregiver, including the location of the caregiver’s 
operations. The OMP must disclose this information within 2 business days of the request, 

61

http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/28-B/title28-Bch0sec0.html
http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/28-B/title28-Bch0sec0.html


Maine Municipal Association Legal Services 
Medical Marijuana Packet   November 2021 

 
 
without disclosing more information than is reasonably necessary to verify authenticity of the 
registry identification card. The CEO or municipal officers must keep any information received 
confidential except as necessary to verify whether the registry identification card is valid and 
whether the conduct is authorized. 

➔ Enforcement 

Violations of the MMUMA (e.g., the distribution of medical marijuana or marijuana products 
without the required state registration or without opt-in authority from the municipality) are 
subject to civil and/or criminal penalties that must be enforced by OMP and/or state/local law 
enforcement (22 M.R.S. § 2430-F). If a municipal official becomes aware of such violations, they 
should be reported to OMP or the state/local police. The municipality is only responsible for 
enforcing violations of municipal land use or licensing regulations, to the extent such regulations 
have been enacted and are applicable. 

 

62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   May 9, 2022 
Re:   Brief Discussion of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Districts  

  

For the Thursday April 28, 2022 Investment Committee meeting, Mayor Smith asked staff to 
compile some basic information about TIF Districts. After the meeting, he asked that this 
information be presented to all Council members. 

The information is included in this packet. 

Suggestion Action: 

I would be happy to answer any questions. 

90



Tax Increment  Financing (TIF) Overview 
 

1 . St a t e  Ec o n o m ic  De v e lo p m e n t  To o ls  fo r  TIF (t h e  W h y ) 

https://www.maine.gov/decd/business-development/tax-incentives-credit/municipal-tax-increment-
financing 

“Municipal Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Tax Increment Financing is a flexible finance tool used by 
municipalities, plantations and unorganized territories to leverage new property taxes generated by a 
specific project or projects within a defined geographic district. Any portion of the new taxes may be used 
to finance public or private projects for a defined period of time for up to 30 years.” 

2 . M u n ic ip a l Fr a m e w o r k  (t h e  W h a t ) 

Information about Caribou’s TIF Districts can be found in Chapter 10 “Planning”, Article II “Tax 
Increment Financing” (enclosed) 

Also: captured value within the TIF Districts is “sheltered valuation” so it does not increase the County 
Tax or decrease the amount of Municipal Revenue Sharing or State Aid to Education 

3 . M a p s  o f  Cu r r e n t  Dis t r ic t s  (t h e  W h e r e ) a n d  (t h e  W h e n ) 

Enclosed are the maps from the application for the Hilltop TIF District and other applications. They 
show the existing TIF Districts in Caribou: 
 
Downtown TIF District – (2006) expires March 29, 2036 
RC-2 TIF District – (2012) expires March 28, 2042 
Bouchard TIF District – (2013) expires March 28, 2043 
Hilltop TIF District – (2018) expires December 31, 2048 
 

4 . Cu r r e n t  Cr e d it  En h a n c e m e n t  Ag r e e m e n t s  (t h e  W h o ) 

Important: JOBS - JOBS – JOBS The creation and retention of jobs is important when evaluating projects. 

Caribou Management (DHHS) – Downtown TIF District (100% DHHS portion ends 2036) 
Neal Griffeth (NAPA) – Downtown TIF District (Sliding scale 50% to 10% ends 2022) 
Bouchard Farms – Bouchard TIF District (Sliding scale 95% to 25% ends 2032) 
Caribou Senior Living  – Hilltop TIF District (95% captured value expires 2048) 
 

5 . Effo r t s  t o  e d u c a t e  & e n g a g e  o u r  c it iz e n s  (t h e  Ho w ) 

Guidance can be found online at the City of Caribou website (enclosed): 
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/General-TIF-and-CEA-Information.pdf 
Developer request and Credit Enhancement Agreement application on the website: 
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Developer-Request-and-TIF-CEA-
Application.pdf 
 
Staff has also developed and presented a “Business Friendly Roadmap” (a few pertinent slides are 
enclosed) 

91

https://www.maine.gov/decd/business-development/tax-incentives-credit/municipal-tax-increment-financing
https://www.maine.gov/decd/business-development/tax-incentives-credit/municipal-tax-increment-financing
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/General-TIF-and-CEA-Information.pdf
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Developer-Request-and-TIF-CEA-Application.pdf
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Developer-Request-and-TIF-CEA-Application.pdf


 

 

Chapter 10 

Planning 

 

 

ARTICLE I   PLANNING BOARD 

 

Section 
10-101 Planning and Code Enforcement Offices 
 
 
 

ARTICLE II   TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 

 

 

10-201 Introduction 
10-202 Purpose 
10-203 Definitions 
10-204 General Considerations 
10-205 Basic Provisions 
10-206 Mandatory Guidelines 
10-207 Guidelines that Determine Level of Municipal Participation 
10-208 Standard Operating Procedure 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 92



Chapter 10 

Planning 

 

ARTICLE I  PLANNING BOARD 

 

 Sec. 10-101  Planning and Code Enforcement Offices 
 

 To assist in carrying out the policies of the Planning Board, there shall be an office with 
appropriate staffing to provide planning and code enforcement.  These objectives may be 
accomplished by one or more staff persons. 
 
    
Historical Note: formerly Chapter 6, 1956 Code; replaced June 4, 1980; amended July 11, 1988; January 7, 1991; 
November 22, 1993; June 24, 1996; April 13, 1998; Section 10-102 adopted by City Council on May 9, 2011; 
Section 10-102 Community & Economic Development was repealed by City Council on November 27, 2012. 

 
    
Historical Note: Section 10-103 adopted by City Council on May 9, 2011; Section 10-103 Chamber of Commerce 
repealed by City Council November 25, 2013, effective December 31, 2013. 

 
ARTICLE II  TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 

 

Sec. 10-201 Introduction 
 

State of Maine law establishes Tax Increment Financing (TIF) as one of the few tools 
cities can use to assist in economic development activities. TIFs provide partnering opportunities 
between private developers and local government to realize greater economic benefits for the 
community. These efforts may include new developments, redevelopment, or expansion of 
existing business operations. While TIFs provide the potential for cash influx to projects, other 
tools may also be beneficial and should be seriously considered when requests for TIF 
designation are made. These other tools may include changing zoning or land use regulations, 
streamlining review processes, helping to get funding through other economic agencies, private 
funding or city revolving loan funds, utility services programs, etc. 

 

The City of Caribou will generally consider use of TIFs for all areas zoned for 
commercial development in an effort to build community and economic growth through public-
private partnerships with both existing and new businesses. Special consideration will be given 
to projects proposed in the Downtown District. 

 

Sec. 10-202 Purpose 
 

The purpose of these guidelines is to outline standards that the City of Caribou will use in 
considering applications for tax increment financing. These guidelines are intended to be 
consistent with State laws, as they may be updated from time to time. State laws shall be utilized 
when any specific conflict between the two occurs. Notwithstanding these guidelines, the  
creation of a TIF agreement is a policy decision made on a case-by-case basis by the Caribou 
City Council and the Maine Department of Economic & Community Development. Tax  
Increment Financing is a not a right under Maine law and meeting these guidelines should not be 
interpreted as creating any rights or entitlements in any application. 

 

 

589 93



Sec. 10-203 Definitions 
 

The following terms, as may be used within this Article, shall have the following 

meanings. Those terms which are not included herein, but which are found in Maine Revised 

Statutes, Title 30-A, pertaining to Development Districts within Municipalities, shall have the 

same meaning as provided in the state statutes. 
 

Commercial and Industrial Zones: Those land use zones adopted by the City of Caribou 

which allow for uses of a primarily non-residential nature.  

 

Retail:  Those establishments identified as Retail Trade and Wholesale Trade under the 

2017 North American Industry Classification System 
 

Sec. 10-204 General Considerations 
 

Economic development projects are eligible for consideration when they meet the 
following standards: 

 

• Would not occur otherwise; 

• Create or retain employment opportunities; 

• Expand significantly the City's tax base; and 

• Conform to the quality and types of development sought by the City as outlined in the 

Zoning ordinance, Comprehensive Plan, and other policies enacted by the City Council 
 

Sec. 10-205 Basic Provisions 
 

Once a TIF district is created, the City of Caribou can utilize increment funds in two 

ways; first, the City may bond for and install public infrastructure to be paid for with any 

generated tax increment funds, and second, the City may return tax increment funds directly to 

the investing business to cover project costs. This second option is formalized through a Credit 

Enhancement Agreement (CEA) between the City and the benefiting parties. Because of the 

potential risk to the City in either of these cases, special consideration needs to be given to the 

following: 

1. Tax Increment Financing shall be revenue neutral, or better, to the City over the life 

of the district. 

2. Applicants must provide all documentation deemed necessary by the City to 

substantiate the TIF requirements and protect the City's economic and financial 

position. 

3. The applicant is obligated to apply for any State reimbursement programs for 

personal property and/or real estate taxes.  

4. All applicants will be required to sign a Professional Fee Consent Form agreeing to 

reimburse the City for all out-of-pocket expenses including outside professional  

consulting costs (e.g. legal, accounting and advertising) and expenses related to  

calling special Council meetings, printed documents, travel, postage, etc., which may 

be incurred as a result of the Tax Increment Financing proposal. Such reimbursement 

is to occur whether or not Tax Increment Financing is approved. 

 

590 94



5. If Tax Increment Financing is approved, an annual Administrative Fee, equal to 1% 

of the incremental taxes reallocated back to the project, will be charged. 

6. Credit Enhancement Agreements must provide for a recapture of the benefits if the 

project should move to another municipality. Assignments will be allowed only for 

conventional, commercial financing purposes or where the proposed assignee agrees 

to be bound by the same terms and conditions as the original applicant. 

7. Invoices, cancelled checks, lien waivers, and other documents supporting cost 

reimbursement proportional to the captured value, must be substantiated with 

documentation from non-affiliated companies. 

8. Tax Increment Financing Agreements of five years or less are highly preferred by the 

City when structured as a CEA. Increased duration may be considered depending 

upon the magnitude of increased tax value, job creation, or economic benefits. 

Projects involving bonds for public infrastructure may be considered for the 

maximum time allowed by law (30 years). 

9. The City will not entertain requests from retail enterprises for Credit Enhancement 

Agreements as a means of tax increment financing for onsite activities within a TIF 

district unless such businesses or developments will create a minimum of 10 new Full 

Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs which pay 100% of the area median income; the City 

may however, at its sole discretion, consider requests from all retail enterprises for 

Credit Enhancement Agreements to assist in the financing of necessary off-site public 

infrastructure improvements, installed by the investing business and for which 

detailed financial documentation is provided. 

10. The City will not return to any investing business under any Credit Enhancement 

Agreement more than eighty (80) percent in any one (1) given year. 

11. The City may deviate from provisions 8-10 when working with a project that will 

redevelop or repurpose properties held by a non-taxed entity for at least 5 years 

immediately prior to application for TIF designation (e.g. tax acquired properties, 

school sites, state holdings, etc.). 
 

Sec. 10-206 Mandatory Guidelines 
 

In all instances, applicants for tax increment financing must demonstrate that the City of 
Caribou's participation is economically necessary, and that participation is needed to undertake 
the project. Such justification is demonstrated by: 

1. A need to offset infrastructure costs unique to the site; or 

2. A need to offset economic advantages available to a corporate entity if it should 

develop a project (or expand operations) outside of Caribou; or 

3. A lack of sufficient private or other public funding sources to meet the full capital 

investments needed to undertake a project. 

4. If the project creates significant new tax value equal to or greater than $50,000 

dollars and creates or retains jobs throughout the City's planned development,  

commercial, industrial zones and Pine Tree Zones, including projects located in  

the Downtown District. Retail projects must demonstrate a new tax value equal to 

or greater than $1.5Million dollars.  

 

591 

95



5. The developer is financially capable to undertake the project. 

6. The developer is compliant with all statutory and regulatory guidelines of the City 

of Caribou and the State of Maine. 
 

Sec. 10-207 Guidelines that Determine Level of Municipal Participation 
 

In addition to the above guidelines, the City will use the following criteria to determine 
the level and duration of participation by the City of Caribou: 

1. The project assists an established business in the City of Caribou, thus retaining 

existing employment opportunities; 

2. The project creates long-term, permanent and quality employment opportunities 

which will provide wages exceeding the area median income; 

3. The project contributes to the revitalization of the Downtown District, Commercial 

and Industrial Zones, designated Growth Areas or Pine Tree Zone District. 

4. The project improves a blighted building or site in need of rehabilitation; 

5. The project creates public infrastructure facilities that have application beyond the 

particular development such as improvements to utilities, telecommunications, traffic 

patterns, parking facilities, green space, etc.; 

6. The project supports or will support community projects, provides job training, 

provides student internships, supports local contractors and suppliers; and 

7. The project supports or will support local efforts and programs that assist those who 

are under-employed or low to moderate income (LMI). 

8. The developer has a responsible history with personal properly tax payment and 

pledges the continued responsibility. 

9. The project helps stimulate other business(es) within the City or offers presently 

unavailable economic benefits; 

10. The project does not require direct borrowing by the City, and tax increment revenues 

are not obligated or pledged as collateral for third-party project financing but simply 

are reimbursed to the project; 

11. Projects seeking Credit Enhancement Agreements conform to the business categories 

established for the State of Maine's Pine Tree Business Zone program, i.e., 

manufacturing businesses, financial services business, and the targeted technology 

business (composite materials, biotechnology, aquaculture and marine technology, 

environmental technology, information technology, advanced technologies for 

forestry and agriculture, and precision manufacturing technology; 
 

Sec. 10-208 Standard Operating Procedure 
 

The City of Caribou will coordinate all activities regarding applications for tax increment 

financing.  Working with applicants, the City will undertake the following steps when reviewing 

applications: 

A. Preliminary Evaluation 

1. Provide information on tax increment financing to potential business/developers;  

2. Discuss project proposals and accept preliminary applications; (applications for tax 

increment financing will be provided by the Department of Community  

 

592 96



Development). All applicants must pay a $250.00 non-refundable application fee at 

the time of submission.  

3. Review preliminary applications based on policy guidelines with the City Manager, 

Tax Assessor, Code Enforcement Officer, Director of Community Development, 

Director of Public Works; Director of Public Safety, Utilities District or other 

applicable departments.  

4. Advise applicants on the findings of city staff.  

5. The City staff will review applications and makes recommendations to the Caribou 

City Council. The City Council will determine the appropriateness of the request and 

provide direction to staff for continued evaluation under Final Review. 
 

B. Final Review 
 

1. Based on the City Council's direction, the City staff will coordinate with the 

business/developers to determine full compliance with all basic and mandatory 

review criteria. Staff will prepare credit enhancement agreements and/or agreements 

for consideration by the Council.  

2. The City Council will review and grant approval for any agreements to be associated 

with the TIF. Such approval must be contingent upon final acceptance and approval 

of the TIF plan and documents by the State of Maine.  

3. City staff will prepare and submit applications for tax increment financing to the State 

of Maine and will monitor ongoing public and private investments in the particular 

development project. 
 

    
Historical Note: Article II adopted by Ordinance No. 1, 2018 Series on May 14, 2018; effective June 13, 2018. 
Current ordinance replaced original ordinance adopted September 13, 2004. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

593 97



98



99



100



101



102



PROCESS 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

“Municipal Economic Development  

A municipality may elect to provide financial assistance to local economic development 
projects – from infrastructure improvements to business expansions – by using new 
property taxes that result from the commercial investment and corresponding increase 
in property value. The state program that guides and encourages this local economic 
development activity is called municipal tax increment financing (TIF). TIF is 
predominantly a ‘real estate based’ tax incentive program.” (State of Maine, DECD 
Municipal Tax Increment Financing publication dated March 8, 2010) 
 

Tax Increment Financing (TIF) is a tool that a city can use to participate in local project 
financing by using some or all the new property taxes generated by capital investment 
within a geographic district. TIF is one of the few techniques authorized under state law 
to promote economic development projects by cities and towns. In the City of Caribou, 
applications for tax increment financing will be considered in the mixed-use districts, the 
commercial districts, and the industrial districts. Projects proposed in those areas of city 
receive special consideration with regard to the goals established through the 
Comprehensive Plan and by the City of Caribou. The City may consider projects outside 
these areas on a case-by-case basis. Projects under consideration will directly or 
indirectly have a positive impact on the city. 
 
Program Example  
Land in a designated area (TIF district) is assessed at  
(original assessed value) 

$500,000 

A developer builds a building on that land that is assessed at $1,000,000 
The tax rate in Caribou per thousand dollars of assessed value is $20.50 
The total property tax per year on this land and building is $30,750 
The property tax per year on the new building only (Increment) is $20,500 
 
All - or a portion - of the property tax of $20,500 can be used to support the TIF district’s 
eligible development program and financial plan for as long as 30 years. 
Not only can the $20,500 per year be designated for eligible programs, that same 
amount can be “sheltered” from the computation of state subsidies (Revenue Sharing 
and General Purposed Aid to Education) and the payment of county taxes. As the city’s 
total value increases the city will realize a decrease in Revenue Sharing and Education 
subsidies and an increase in County tax payments. 
 
 
 

103



 Taxes Sheltered in TIF Without TIF Shelter – 
taxes to general fund  

Taxes from new building 
(Example above) 

$20,500 $20,500 

Portion paid to County*  $68.47 
State Revenue Sharing 
Reduction* 

 $2,111.79 

State Education Aid 
Reduction* 

 $9,000 

Net to Caribou $20,500 $9,319.74 
 
*Please note that these figures are adjusted annually and may change based on the 
adjustment. 
 

The Sheltered tax amount of $20,500 (all or a portion) may be designated for eligible 
economic development programs including reimbursement to a developer for business 
or development project costs (via a Credit Enhancement Agreement).  
Economic development projects will be eligible to apply for TIF funding when they meet 
at least three of the following objectives: 

• The projects receiving TIF funding assistance are public infrastructure projects in 
support of the development that would typically be projects the community might 
fund through the general fund, or capital fund, but was unable to do so 

• The project proceeds complete a public infrastructure project identified as 
needed by the community or an identified public benefit for the community 

• The project cannot move forward without the infrastructure support 
• The project itself will create or retain significant and sustainable employment 

opportunities 
The purpose of this policy is to outline standards and processes that the City of Caribou 
will use in initiating or considering applications for Tax Increment Financing (TIF). 
Notwithstanding this policy the creation of a TIF agreement is a decision made on a 
case-by-case basis by the Caribou City Council and the Maine Department of Economic 
& Community Development (Maine DECD). Tax Increment Financing is a not a right 
under Maine law and meeting these policies should not be interpreted as creating any 
rights or entitlements in any application. 
 

II. BASIC PROVISIONS 
Applications for Tax Increment Financing (whether initiated by the City or requested by 
a developer or business) will be considered by City staff and the City Council, with all 
final approvals vested with the Caribou City Council and the Maine DECD. Applications 
for Affordable Housing TIFs and Amendments to existing TIFs will follow this process. 
The terms and specific details of each TIF agreement will be developed on a case-by-
case basis. The City Manager and the Manager’s designated departments will negotiate 
for the City based on the merits of the project and this policy, following the process laid 104



out in the Application Requirements Section IV. In developing the application, the 
applicant (the City or the developer) shall meet the following basic provisions, as well as 
the policies and requirements stipulated in subsequent sections. 
 

Affordable Housing TIFs are submitted using a special application form and are 
approved at the state level by the Maine State Housing Authority. The local review 
process is the same but unique criteria are used for evaluation. Separate 
documentation is available from the Maine State Housing Authority. 
 

TIF Agreements. TIF is a tool that permits a municipality to participate in local project 
financing by using some or all the new property taxes from a capital investment within a 
designated geographic district. The City has the right to retain TIF proceeds for public 
infrastructure improvements or TIF eligible expenses. The municipality has the option of 
using the “incremental” taxes to retire bonds it has issued for the project, fund eligible 
municipal economic development activities, or reimburse a developer or business for 
development project costs (via a Credit Enhancement Agreement). 
 

TIF districts may be designated for up to 30 years and bonds may be issued for up to 20 
years. The designation of a TIF district requires proper notice, a local public hearing, the 
majority vote of the municipal legislative body, and state approval. 
 

• Eligible Expenses. Eligible TIF expenses include construction, design, and permitting 
of necessary infrastructure to support the proposed project. Other eligible expenses are 
defined by the State of Maine in its TIF Publication and Statutes (which may be 
amended from time to time). The City Council will consider proposals that further 
economic development goals endorsed by the community. 
 

• Documentation. The applicant is required to provide all documentation associated with 
the application. This documentation becomes the basis by which the project’s 
implementation is reviewed for compliance with final approvals. 
 

• Geographic Boundaries. The City reserves the right, during the application process, to 
establish the size of the district necessary to meet the needs of the applicant or to meet 
the needs of infrastructure improvements deemed necessary by the community. 
 

• Personal Property. Personal property shall not be included in the calculations for the 
TIF. 
 
• Excess Funds. TIF agreements that include a CEA shall include a provision that 
directs any excess funds after the CEA is satisfied to be directed to economic 
development uses. 
 
 
 

105



 
THE FOLLOWING 4 ITEMS APPLY TO TIFs THAT INCLUDE CREDIT 

ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENTS ONLY 
 

Credit Enhancement Agreement  
If the TIF funds are to be used to reimburse a developer or business for development 
project costs, a Credit Enhancement Agreement (CEA) is created. The CEA, or contract 
between the municipality and developer or business, is a mechanism to assist the 
development project by using all, or a percentage of, the tax revenues generated by the 
new investment to pay certain authorized project costs with payments made directly to 
the developer or business. 
 

• Amount of Funds. The TIF funds reimbursed/returned to the developer (via a CEA) will 
not exceed, over time, the amount of funds agreed to in the TIF document. The 
applicant is required to submit all documentation that will justify the expenditure to be 
reimbursed as estimated in the TIF agreement. 
 

• Terms. Terms shall be negotiated between the City and the applicant on a case-by- 
case basis.  

o Agreements can extend between 1 and 30 years; and 20% to 100% of the 
incremental value can be captured depending upon the merits of the project 

o These terms are consistent with state statute. 
 

• Suspension and Recapture of Benefits. The Credit Enhancement Agreements 
shall contain provisions for the suspension, termination, and/or recapture of benefits to 
the applicant. These actions will occur when the applicant does not meet the 
compliance standards outlined in this document. This would also include any 
statements or representations made by the applicant which would have a bearing on the 
City Council’s decision to participate in a TIF and at what level. The agreements shall 
also provide for the termination and/or recapture of benefits from the applicant if the 
applicant relocates all or a substantial portion of the Caribou operation outside the 
project, during the term of the agreement. 

 

•  Level of Funding Adjustments. During the application process and during the life 
of the TIF (and CEA), the applicant shall demonstrate that the funds are being used at 
appropriate levels for the purpose intended. If the level of funds the applicant receives 
exceeds the projected need, the amount returned to the applicant shall be adjusted. 
 

III. LEVEL OF MUNICIPAL PARTICIPATION  
The City will use various criteria to determine participation including those listed below: 
 

• The value of the proposed public infrastructure 
 

 

106



• The project creates public infrastructure facilities that have application beyond the 
development, such as improvements to traffic patterns, parking facilities, access to 
water, the incorporation of sustainable technologies, green space, or environmental 
remediation 
 

• The project is consistent with goals and actions stated in the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan 
 

• The project assists an established business in the City of Caribou, thus retaining 
existing employment opportunities 
 

• The project brings a new business to the community that is consistent with one of the 
business sectors identified below 
 

• The project supports, or will support, local efforts and programs that assist in the 
development of the following business sectors: manufacturing, the agriculture economy, 
technology industry, retail industry, lodging, tourism or the State’s targeted industries 
consistent with Pine Tree Zone standards (manufacturing, advanced technologies for 
forestry & agriculture, aquaculture & marine technology, biotechnology, composite 
materials technology, environmental technology, financial services, information 
technology) 
 

• The project creates long-term, permanent, and quality employment opportunities 
 

• The project contributes to the unique quality of the City, commercial and industrial 
districts, or other areas in need of redevelopment 
 

• The project improves a blighted building site that will benefit from rehabilitation 
 

• The project supports or will support community projects, provides job training, provides 
student internships, supports local contractors and suppliers 
 

IV. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 
For projects that include a Credit Enhancement Agreement 
Applicants for a Credit Enhancement Agreement should demonstrate that the City of 
Caribou’s participation is economically necessary, and that participation is needed to 
undertake the project. Such justification is demonstrated by: 
 

• The financial need to offset public infrastructure costs unique to the project or site 
 

• The project is one that conforms to the Caribou Comprehensive Plan, in its capital 
improvement program, or in other supporting documents recognized by the community 
 

107



• The developer demonstrates the financial capacity to undertake the project and 
provides evidence in support of this capacity. Evidence will include but is not limited to: 
 

o Development budget and pro-forma  
o Financial commitments of project lenders  
o A project implementation plan and schedule 
 

All such information shall be kept confidential. City staff and City Council will agree to a 
non-disclosure agreement, if deemed necessary. 
 

• The project creates incremental tax value equal to or greater than $500,000, excluding 
personal property 
 

• The developer is compliant with all statutory and regulatory guidelines of the City of 
Caribou and the State of Maine 
 

V. APPLICATION PROCESS 
 

The City of Caribou will coordinate all activities regarding applications for Increment 
Financing, possible CEAs, Affordable Housing TIFs and TIF Amendments. It is 
understood that the TIF process can precede other local approvals; however, the final 
TIF approval can have receiving such approvals as a condition. Collaborating with 
applicants, the Departments will coordinate the following process 
 

• Phase 1: The Caribou City Staff will provide information on Caribou’s Tax 
Increment Financing program to the applicants and discuss the merits of the 
project proposal(s). Where appropriate, the staff will reach out to obtain preliminary 
input from City departments, including, but not limited to the Tax Assessor, City 
Attorney, Codes Enforcement Officer, Director of Public Works, and advise 
applicants on the findings of City staff. 

 

•  Phase 2: The applicant shall file a preliminary application with the City. The City 
Manager, or his designee, shall review the application for completeness and then 
submit the application to the City Council for their preliminary review and 
comments. 
 

•  Phase 3: The City Manager will schedule a workshop meeting with the City 
Council and to review the proposal. The meeting should result in the creation of a 
determination as to whether the application is an appropriate use of TIF funding or 
not. At that meeting: 

 

o The applicant shall provide an overview of the project  
o The City Manager shall provide any preliminary input from staff, and 

108



o The City Council members shall provide comment, as appropriate  
o There should be a preliminary discussion of terms including those involved 

with a CEA 
o There should be a discussion of policy waivers requested, if any 

 

•  Phase 4: Using the comments from that meeting, the applicant may apply for 
final application approval (the application is a separate document). The Manager 
shall proceed with the following: 
 

o Meet and obtain input from appropriate department heads 
 

o For those TIF applications in which a Credit Enhancement Agreement may 
be involved or anticipated, negotiate with the developer on the conditions 
under which a CEA agreement may be reached, including waivers and the 
rationale behind their need 

 

o Develop a findings of fact from the City Council 
 

o Unless otherwise specified by the City Council in Phase 3, the applicant 
shall obtain any necessary local permits such as site plan review, design 
review, traffic, and parking review 

 

o Vet the Findings of Fact with City Council, revise, and renegotiate with the 
applicant as necessary, and 

 

o Finalize the findings of fact and forward the findings, with a 
recommendation, to the City Council. 

 

•   Phase 5: Present the Findings of Fact to the City Council for their action. 
 

•   Phase 6: Based on the City Council’s direction and approval, designated staff 
shall prepare and submit the application for Tax Increment Financing to the State 
of Maine. 
 

• Phase 7: During implementation, the designated departments will monitor 
ongoing public and private investments in the development project to ensure their 
compliance with Findings of Fact and the policies contained herein. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 109



Application Fee 
 

All developer or business applicants are required to: 
 

• Reimburse the City of Caribou for all legal, staff, and consulting costs and any 
additional expenses whether an application is approved. 

 

• At the time of final application submission, a deposit of $1,000 will be made by 
the applicant into a fund to be used to reimburse the City for staff time and any 
other direct expenses like required legal fees. Any funds not used during that 
time may be returned when the construction project is completed. 
 

• Applications will be provided by the City Manager’s Office, Caribou City Hall, 25  
Street, Caribou, Maine 04032. 

 

VI. WAIVER PROVISIONS 
 

The City Council may waive the provisions of this policy. The decision to do so shall be 
made by applying the intent of the following guidelines to ensure that the project 
remains within the general parameters of Caribou’s economic and community 
development vision. Criteria to be considered when granting the waiver include: 
 

• Consistency with the Caribou Comprehensive Plan 
• Consistency with the City’s economic and community development vision 
• Consistency with other local, state, and federal rules 
• Evidence of need, and, 
• Capacity to conduct the project 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



 
                                                          CFAD Monthly Report   
                                                                   April 2022                                       
          Fire Calls 6_Ambulance Calls 177_Canceled Calls 3_= Total Calls 186_                                    
                                                                    
See Attached Breakdowns:        
- Alarms for Fires (33)-1                          - ALS Calls - 99 
- Alarms for Rescues (66) -      - BLS Calls - 78  
- Silent Alarms  - 5                - Amb. Calls Canceled- 3  
- Total Hours Pumped -               - Target Calls (Drug Behavioral)- 9  
- Gallons of Water Used –                                          - PIFT Transfers-  
- Amt. of Hose used -’                                                - Long Distance Transfers -3 
- Ladders Used (in Feet):’                                     - Calls Turned Over -13 
- (75’Aerial)_’                                                             - Total Out of Town Calls- 47 
- Thermal Imaging Camera Used -1                           - No Transports- 31 
- Gas Meter Used-                            - Est. Fire Loss, Caribou -     
- Rescue Sled & Snowmobile-   - Est. Fire Loss, out of City- 
 -Rescue Boat -                                                           -Total Est. Fire Loss-         
 -Jaws Used -         
                                                     -Total Maintenance Hours -18 
 -Miles Traveled by All Units – 2,274   -Total Training Hours – 115.5 
 -Color Guard Trng./Ceremonies                                                             .                             
                
MUTUAL AID TO:     MUTUAL AID FROM: 
Presque Isle Fire Dept. -  F  A-   Presque Isle Fire Dept.-           
Fort Fairfield Fire Dept -.F  A -   Fort Fairfield Fire Dept -         
Limestone Fire Dept..      Limestone Fire Dept.-             
Washburn Fire Dept.-                                      Washburn Fire Dept.-          
Stockholm Fire Dept. .    Stockholm Fire Dept.-  
North Lakes Fire Dept.    North Lakes Fire Dept.- 
Crown Ambulance     Van Buren Fire Dept -  
Van Buren Ambulance -                                     Crown Ambulance -                            
 Life Flight -7      
 
Out of City Fire and/or Ambulance Responses/and No Transports (N/T) 
Location           # of Amb. Resp./N/T’s    # Of Fire Resp. Man Hrs.  
Woodland           11                                       1 
Connor            5                                         
New Sweden              2                                                                                                               .                                                           
Stockholm            1           
Limestone                 25                             
 Caswell                     1 
Fort Fairfield             1                                        
Presque Isle                                                                                                                                                            
Van Buren                                                             
Bangor                                                            
Perham            1  
Mad. Lake Twp.                                                                                                                                                                 
Houlton                                                                       
                     
                                                                      _________________________ 
                                                                       Scott Susi, CFAD Chief  119



                                                                   Fire Breakdowns 

 
 
 
 

Situation Found   # Of Incidents Fire 
Casualties 

Est. Property 
Damage 

1. Private Dwellings (111) 
Mobile Homes (121)                                   

1     

2. Apartments (3 or 
more) (111) 
 

     

3. Hotels & Motels 
(111) 
    

     

4. Dormitories & 
Boarding Homes 
    (111) 

     

5. Public Assembly 
(Church,  
    Restaurant) (111) 

     

6. Schools (111) 
 

     

7. Institutions 
(Hospitals, Jails, 
    Nursing Homes) 
(111) 

     

8. Stores, Offices (111) 
 

     

9. Industry, Utility, 
Defense (111) 
 

     

10. Storage (111) 
 

     

11. Vacant Buildings or 
being Built 
       (111) 

     

12. Fires outside 
structure w/value 
      (crops, timber, etc.)  
(171) 

     

13. Fires Highway 
Vehicles (131) 
 

     

14. Other Vehicles 
(planes, trains, Ski Doo 
      etc.) (132)   

        

15. Fires in brush, grass 
w/no value 
      (140) 

     

120



 
Other Incidents 
16. Haz-Mat (400) 1 
17. False Calls (740)  
18. Mutual Aid Calls (571)                      
19. Aid to Ambulance (10-55's) (322)     
20. Aid to Police (551)                             
21. Investigation (Smoke, CO, or Alarm)      (smoke )  (CO)  (Alarm ) 3 

                    
22. Service Calls (500)                             1 
23. Ambulance Calls (300)                    177 
Canceled Calls- 3 
Fire/Rescue- 6     
Total Calls for the Month_186 

121



Monthly Permit Report

April 2022

CURRENT YEAR PRIOR YEAR PRIOR YEAR

MONTH TO DATE MONTH TO DATE

BUILDING PERMITS 4 5 9 17

HOMES 0 0 1 1

MOBILE HOMES 0 0 0 1

MULTI-FAMILY 0 0 0 0

COMMERCIAL 2 3 2 7

EXEMPT 0 0 0 1

PLUMBING PERMITS

INTERNAL 1 3 0 5

EXTERNAL 0 0 2 2

DEMO PERMITS 1 1 3 5

SIGN PERMITS 0 1 1 3

Year-to-Date is January 2022 to April 2022

122



Caribou Public Library 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
 
To:   Mayor and City Councilors  
  Penny Thompson, City Manager 
From: Peter Baldwin, Library Director 
April 2022 Report 
     
  Spring is certainly in the air at the library. Throughout our side yard you can see 
the blossoming flowers and all the various types of birds who have finally retunred to us. 
But with spring comes more open programming for the library as well. 

 This month, the Library has shfted into more in-person programming for Children. 
Over the last two years, we have only offered a Storytime virtually through Facebook and 
YouTube. As of April, the library will now be offering a Preschool Storytime in person, 
as well as a Mother Goose Storytime for our young audience. We have had 37 people 
attend these programs since we began on April 13th.  

 The library is also excited to announce our upcoming Telehealth Program! In 
partnership with the Maine State Library, the Caribou Public Library will now be offering 
specialized and dedicated technology for Teleheath appointments. We received the 
Equipment on April 28th, and will begin advertizing in May. This program is designed to 
ai those who need to telecommunicate with medical professionals or specialists. We now 
have a dedicated computer with specialized privacy softwareto ensure patron privacy. 
This set up is also located in a specific room to allow any user the comfort of solitude for 
their appointment. 

 This month, the library has been on the hunt for a new staff member. We are lucky 
enough to have had wonderful applicants all with unique specializations and backrounds 
that will only benefit the Library. We are still conducting interviews at present, but are 
sure to be making a decision soon, and welcome our new Staff in May. 

 The Caribou Public Library was also selected this month to be the reciever of 
donations from the Caribou Hannaford’s “Bloomin’ 4 Good” program. The Hannaford’s 
will begin selling bouquets in May with red stickers on them. Each of these that is 

123



purchased will result in a $1 donation to the library! Make sure to stop by and pick up 
some flowers for Mother’s Day and help out your local library at the same time! 

That’s all for us at the Library, tune in next month for more Library fun! 

Peter Baldwin 
 

124



 
 

CIRCULATION STATISTICAL COMPARISON 

MATERIAL TYPE 
JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC 
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 

Adult books 729 554 612 509                 

Juvenile books 584 455 662 673                 

Teen/YA books 40 51 55 37                 

DVDs 122 98 129 128                 

eBooks/Audiobooks 25 158 177 128                 

Magazines 36 15 24 19                 

Interlibrary loans 26 33 29 49                 

Puzzles 17 1 9 10                 

STEAM 26 35 17 18                 

Renewals 434 309 479 472                 

TOTAL NUMBERS 2,039 1,709 2,193 2,043 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

125



 
 

**As of 2020 the Maine State Library is now requiring that public libraries track renewals as part of their statistics. STEAM Kits made available in 
November 2021 ** 

 

APR MAY JUNE JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022 2022

Adult books 432 462 582 553 571 556 589 610 529 729 554 612 509

Juvenile books 458 421 738 640 661 669 611 586 432 584 455 662 673

Teen/YA books 62 45 99 85 125 77 58 75 43 40 51 55 37

DVDs 186 175 170 197 248 219 174 210 164 122 98 129 128

eBooks/Audiobooks 355 261 205 172 165 40 27 127 139 25 158 177 128

Magazines 36 15 30 27 38 59 57 96 65 36 15 24 19

Interlibrary loans 51 28 34 47 77 42 33 28 36 26 33 29 49

Puzzles 14 10 0 1 0 1 3 14 8 17 1 9 10

STEAM ** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

** See 
Note

4 15 26 35 17 18

Renewals 676 530 593 555 592 578 434 496 407 434 309 479 472

TOTAL NUMBERS 2,270 1,947 2,451 2,277 2,477 2,241 1,986 2,246 1,838 2,039 1,709 2,193 2,043

MATERIAL TYPE

CIRCULATION STATISTICAL COMPARISON

Year JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC TOTAL
2017 1,429 1,647 2,165 1,671 1,782 2,053 2,086 2,225 1,995 2,335 2,284 2,094 23,766
2018 1,789 1,755 2,396 2,758 2,192 2,501 2,629 3,166 2,727 2,894 2,587 2,104 29,498
2019 2,924 2,026 2,728 2,663 2,116 1,979 2,519 2,297 2,129 2,099 1,603 1,770 26,853
2020 2,404 2,415 1,710 289 281 1,113 2,040 3,327 2,990 3,278 3,063 3,525 26,435
2021 3,850 3,710 4,434 2,270 1,947 2,451 2,277 2,477 2,367 2,116 2,246 1,838 31,983
2022 2,039 1,709 2,193 2,043 7,984

YEAR-TO-DATE MONTHLY CIRCULATION COMPARISON

126



127



128



129



130



131



132


